D

=AM

Y
L T H HOLDINGS LIMITED
(=] 2 KRR 8 R 2 F

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(R EBREZZMBAEITZERAF)

R
EA
=

(Stock Code 17 L5 643)

T E & &
Annual Report

O NOONO



We Carry quality apparel with

A Wealth of Human Rescurces




CONTENTS E ﬁf, 2 Corporate Profile
E EE/EN

3 Corporate Information
NEER

5 Financial Highlights
MHEE

8 Chairman’s Statement
FHERE

11 Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEJ. D—_I-DFFH& *ﬁ'

20 Corporate Governance Report
TEEARS

40 Report of the Directors
EEgRS

56 Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 BEN RS

64 Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

GeBEmkEMEERAT

65 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE MR

67 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REREmBER

68 Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
GERETMER

70 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

rE M BRARMEE



Corporate Profile £ & &Y

CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

manufactures and trades garment products for internationally
renowned brand names and engages in securities investment. The
Group has production facilities in Mainland China.

Headquartered in Hong Kong, Carry Wealth Holdings Limited has
been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited since 2000.

The Chinese name of the Company means “enduring prosperity”.

The Group is committed to maximizing the return of its
shareholders for their ongoing support.
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Corporate Information A & & 1

Executive Directors
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Mr. Wang Ke (Vice President)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Mr. Wang Shiming'

Audit Committee

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Mr. Wang Shiming’

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Wang Ke

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Mr. Wang Shiming’

Nomination Committee

Mr. Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Mr. Wang Shiming’

Investment Committee
Mr. Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Wang Ke

Company Secretary
Mr. Chiu G Kiu Bernard

Auditor

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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Corporate Information A & & i}

Principal Bankers
China CITIC Bank International Limited
Standard Chartered Bank

Principal Share Registrar and
Transfer Agent

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

4th Floor North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda

Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Agent in Hong Kong

Tricor Abacus Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

Registered Office
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of Business in

Hong Kong
Suite 2001, 20/F, Shui On Centre
6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai
Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2310 8180
Fax: (852) 2310 8797

Website
www.carrywealth.com

E-mail Address
info@carrywealth.com

Stock Code
643

Board Lot Size
10,000 shares
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Financial Highlights B4 #&#8 &

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY FEMBEEE
Results E4
Year ended 31 December
#EZE+-BA=+—HIL=FE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—BEIEF “ZT-hE T N\E B—tF —T—RE
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERx FHET FET FET FET
Revenue W 290,515 331,722 328,513 244,590 123,105
Loss attributable to KRBTGS
equity holders of the EAELEE
Company (15,274) (14,825) (50,615) (29,956) (49,719)
Assets and liabilities BERAR
Year ended 31 December
B#E+-B=+—HLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZEZTF —T-hFE T N\F ZT—tF ZT—FRHF
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
F#wx FET FET FHET FET
Total assets mEE 246,256 229,940 243,015 276,553 268,305
Total liabilities =K (107,004) (78,635) (82,261) (74,109) (40,112)
Total equity R 139,252 151,305 160,754 202,444 228,193
Annual Report 2020 EERS 6



Financial Highlights Bt 75 &

REVENUE
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Financial Highlights Bt ##8 &

2020 2019
“EIEE CZANF
HK’000 HK’000 Changes
FERx FET BLEE
Operating results EAF F
Revenue Wz 290,515 331,722 -12.4%
Gross profit EX 47,024 44,872 4.8%
Loss attributable ARBIREFBA
to equity holders of the Company L ES 18 (15,274) (14,825) 3.0%
Financial position at year end MELRZIHBERR
Properties, plant and equipment ME-BERHE 62,737 65,655 ~4.4%
Cash and bank balances REKRIRTTHEER 87,098 47,600 83.0%
Net current assets MENEERE 78,504 87,305 -10.1%
Total assets mEE 246,256 229,940 7.1%
Bank borrowings N 20,013 - NATER
Total liabilities mam 107,004 78,635 36.1%
Capital and reserves attributable KABRREFEAEGZ
to the Company’s equity holders BAKf#EE 139,252 151,305 -8.1%
Per share information skER
Basic and diluted loss per share SEREAREEEGE
(Hong Kong cents) (L) (1.87) (1.81) 3.3%
Capital and reserves attributable ERAXRABDEEFEA
to the Company’s equity holders iz BERK #E
per share (Hong Kong cents) GBAL) 17.0 18.5 -8.0%
Ratio analysis LS4
Profitability BFIKF
Gross profit margin EVIES 16.2% 13.5% 2.7%
Net loss margin e SEEES -5.3% -4.5% -0.8%
Return on the Company’s AABEEFEA
equity holders A EIE -11.0% -9.8% -1.2%
Liquidity BRI
Current ratio MENEEZ 1.9 2.4 -20.8%
Gearing ratio BARBELE N/AFER NATBER  NATER
Operating efficiency REMT
Inventory turnover period (days) FERA®E (B 63 67 -6.0%
Trade receivable turnover (days) BSREWHRIEEE
(B0 53 40 32.5%
Trade payable turnover (days) BRRARERE
(B&) 55 45 22.2%
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Chairman’s Statement FEiR &

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Carry
Wealth Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present the annual report
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The COVID-19 Pandemic (“Pandemic”) in 2020 will lead
to a sharp downturn in the world economy. Combined
with uncertainties such as trade conflicts and geopolitical
tensions, the global economic recovery will be below
the pre-epidemic growth rate for a long term. This has
triggered an unprecedented global crisis, with both the
global economy and per capita income are forecasted to be
contract this year.

Faced with the impact of the Pandemic, the economy
growth of the United States and Europe were decline by
4.3% and 6.4% respectively in 2020. Developed economies
in Europe and the United States generally launch different
fiscal stimulus plans and loose monetary policies to deal
with their own economic recession. After Joe Biden won
the US presidential election, the market’s expectation of
trade conflicts between both China and the US, Europe
and the US will be eased to a certain extent. With the
recent approval of a number of COVID-19 vaccines, the
market is expecting a major turnaround in the epidemic
this year. Most economists also expect the US economy
will be returned to pre-epidemic levels in the second half of
2021, and the economies of the Eurozone will be recovered
during the same period. The US and Eurozone countries are
forecasted to grow by 3.5% and 4.5% respectively in 2021.
Furthermore, leading by China, emerging market economies
are expected to grow by 5% in 2021. China, as the world’s
second largest economy, is forecasted to grow by 7.9% in
2021,

Despite the Pandemic is raged, and the uncertainty of trade
tensions and policy, our sales team’s tremendous and fruitful
efforts have enabled the Group’s garment manufacturing
and trading segment reduce disease impact on profits. The
revenue of the Group’s garment manufacturing and trading
segment from the United States market was reduced to
HK$169.3 million, representing 58.2% of total segment
revenue amounted HK$290.8 million.

8 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]
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Chairman’s Statement EEiR%

In respect of the securities investment segment, the
resources that were collected before will be used for
our business diversifications, with the principal goal of
generating sustainable long-term returns. Segment loss
totalled HK$5.1 million versus a segment loss of HK$5.6
million last year.

Our openness to explore opportunities has enabled us to
diversify from our traditional business, and we are actively
exploring and investing in new businesses that show good
development potential.

GOING FORWARD

The COVID-19 Pandemic will continue to dominate the
economic landscape in 2021, and the speed with which
governments can suppress it will, to a large extent,
determine the economic winners and losers of the year
ahead. China’s ability to contain the pandemic has enabled
businesses and consumers to return gradually to normality.
This is already reflected in its economic rebound since 2Q
2020. On the other hand, Fiscal and monetary policies have
been doing the heavy lifting in 2020 and should remain
supportive. Moreover, vaccine development and distribution,
combined with accurate and efficient tests, should help to
accelerate recovery.

Under the vision of global economic recovery this year, we
will continue to actively explore and develop the European
and American markets related to our garment manufacturing
business. At the same time, we also pay close attention
to the global health care industry, business diversification
is one of the direction of our enterprise development. On
the securities investment segment side, we will continue
to monitor the market and replenish our portfolio as
appropriate. With our strong financial position, dedicated
staff and experienced management team, we are confident
that our long-term sustainable development will be achieved.

FEESFRESS L E HFEZHFEKE
ITREWEFARETEENELZ T
fC¥#R EREEERPIFERR =
NEBEELIE—T8BB MEAFERB
BEAEANTEET

HERFHBFABEES ZMEN
EEREBZIHIBRSTEER BB
MERKREARTFERB N ZHES

RE

MEEBRKSREEREEETE T
T—EWEERE MEBEBFEGZ
BRRE BERANEE LRERK—
FEAELENRRERR - REEGES
WEENBEERHEEZRS MELR -
RTETEFF _FURAKERE
TLERRZ - Z—HH MEEGBHR
T EERETREEENFR
REBZEGRERMF - WEZE
B OEIBF - 0N _EZ2EREE MR
BEABMIREE

ESEREEEENBERT KR
EERBRAOMEREANKRERE
ZEHHBNEERS - BILFR - &
FITETREEE Rt E N B RRE
TR EBSERRMAEEERENT
MZ— PEFKREDBME > FFIR
BEEETRIBERERRMANEE
HE-BRERMEENTHBE L B D
BOIZEIRBEEERZEEERK.
HPEEARAREREEERZEEHRE
SUEHR-
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Chairman’s Statement EEiR%

APPRECIATION

At this time, | would like to extend my sincerest appreciation
to my fellow directors and the entire Carry Wealth workforce
for their commitment, diligence and contributions to the
Group during the past year. | wish to also express my
gratitude to all of our customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their unwavering support.

Li Haifeng
Chairman

22 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESULTS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s revenue
amounted to HK$290.5 million (2019: HK$331.7 million), and
gross profit was HK$47.0 million (2019: HK$44.9 million).
Loss attributable to equity holders was HK$15.3 million
(2019: HK$14.8 million). The basic and diluted loss per share
were both at 1.87 HK cents (2019: both 1.81 HK cents).

The COVID-19 Pandemic (“Pandemic”) made 2020 an
unprecedented year as it had severely damaged the global
environment. During the year, countries took emergency
public health measures, including lock-down poaolicies,
to cope with the Pandemic. These lock-down policies
directly impacted manufacturing exporters, and the Group
experienced a decline in production orders during the
spring and summer periods. Although the Pandemic
began to be under control in some regions in the second
half of 2020, the fear of resurgence still slowed down the
economic recovery. The Group’s revenue from the garment
manufacturing and trading business suffered a decrease
of 12.4% to HK$290.8 million (2019: HK$331.8 million).
Meanwhile, thanks to our staff’'s efforts and the strategic
decision on shifting productions to overseas subcontracted
factories, the Group managed to increase the gross profit
margin of the segment by 2.8% to 16.3% (2019: 13.5%),
with gross profit amounting to HK$47.3 million (2019:
HK$44.9 million).

BRSO

FRREFHEIE

BHE_ZE_EF+_A=+—HIHE
B AEBZKEA_BATEL+E
BT (CE-NE ZB=F—8Bt+
BAET) MEMNAONDTEtEESET (C
T—HE WNTHFEATEBT) &
GRAEAELEEA—TEE=1E
BT CE-—AE: —TEHENTES
70) c BREARREEE Y A1.8781
(ZE—NE 5A1.8181) °

MESREERBE(BENFEF_ZE-F
FEHALEAIN—F AAESEIK
MBIRBEESEFA - FR > ZEMHIK
IR AHEEER (BETHEBER) MU
FEHZ B ZEHHBKRERFERS
XHOm EMTrsEBEEMETNE
EBERAMBL - BERBN 2%
FTH¥ERBREETHESRE BHE
BERENEEBNSEEERNAE - &NE
ERERKNEREZSEH 2 KGR
P12 4%E_BAFENTEET (Z
E-NE ZB=ZF—EBNT+EBIT) °
B SERNETITNAME N RBEE
EREBINDEBENEBE AKX
EBRIIBZOBZENEIES2.8%
£16.3% (ZE—N5F : 18.5%) » EF
ANFLtE=1+8ET (TE—HhE:
MFmEEAT+EBT) ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 /@ 51 38 & 2 1

In the first half of the year, the various degrees of lock-
down measures worldwide damaged the economy and
created volatility in the stock markets. Amid growing
fears of an economic recession, the global stock markets
dropped to the lows in March. Besides, the US presidential
election, the recurrence of Pandemic in several regions, and
Brexit negotiations further brought investors uncertainties.
Fortunately, with the various fiscal stimulus carried out
by governments, the easing of lock-down measures, and
COVID-19 vaccine breakthroughs, stock markets gradually
rebounded in the second half-year. The Hang Seng Index
(“HSI”) ended up closing at 27,231 points in 2020 (2019:
28,189 points). For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group’s securities investment business recorded negative
revenue and a gross loss of HK$0.25 million (2019: HK$0.04
million).

In response to the challenging business environment, the
Group has implemented several cost control measures,
including but not limited to managing excess workforce
and retrenchment and reducing discretionary spending. As
a result, administrative expenses amounted to HK$54.3
million, maintained at a similar level as last year (2019:
HK$54.1 million). The ratio of selling expenses to garment
manufacturing and trading revenue increased to 3.5%
(2019: 2.5%), mainly due to shipping costs incurred to meet
shortened production lead time as requested by customers.

Concerning the Group’s investment in an associate, the
management of the associate processed the dissolution of
the associate by members’ voluntary liquidation, and the
associate was dissolved in January 2021.

/I 2 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 /@ 51 38 & 9

SES IR

Segmental Analysis

a) HIKHERESZE

a) Garment manufacturing and trading segment

The Pandemic has changed the world economy and
adversely impacted many industries, including the
garment sector. Researches indicated that major
buying countries’ imports from garment-reporting
countries in Asia dropped significantly in 2020 due to
collapsing consumer demand and government lock-
down measures. In February, our Heshan Factory was
suspended from operation for approximately two weeks
due to the Mainland China government’s healthcare
measures. Furthermore, as aforementioned, the Group
experienced a decline in production orders during
the spring and summer periods due to the lock-down
measures in overseas regions. Fortunately, thanks to
our staff’'s effort, the business performance showed
improvement in the second half of 2020. The production
orders were returned to pre-pandemic levels for the
Autumn and Winter seasons. For the full year, revenue
from the garment manufacturing and trading segment
decreased by 12.4% to HK$290.8 million (2019:
HK$331.8 million). The US and Europe regions remained
the predominant geographical regions of our garment
manufacturing and trading business and contributed
87.6% (2019: 86.3%) of segment revenue, amounted
HK$254.7 million (2019: HK$286.4 million).

In the US, the Pandemic cases and deaths had
continued to climb since late March. The US government
took fiscal stimulus aids to facilitate economic recovery,
such as interest rate cuts and additional supports to
corporations. The US Consumer Price Index quickly refill
the gap in April and continue to grow. Meanwhile, the
US consumption market had yet fully back to normal,
and the US GDP for 2020 still recorded the worst
performance since World War Il. As a result, the Group’s
revenue from US customers decreased by 11.2% to
HK$169.3 million (2019: HK$190.6 million), accounting
for 58.2% (2019: 57.5%) of the segment revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2020. It might be worth
mentioning that the further escalation of tensions
between China and the US in the second half-year did
not significantly impact the Group’s business as the
related orders were allocated to overseas subcontracted
factories.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 /@ 51 38 & 2 1

14

In the Eurozone, the regions recorded negative economic
growth in the first six months of 2020. Although the
massive monetary stimulus helped repair the economic
damage in Europe, yet, it is still far from full recovery
from the Pandemic as customers’ confidence and
consumption sentiment always take time to recover.
Revenue from European customers dropped to HK$85.4
million (2019: HK$95.8 million) for the year ended
31 December 2020 and accounted for 29.4% (2019:
28.9%) of the segment revenue.

After considering the increasing production costs and
the impact of US tariffs, the Group allocated more
production orders to overseas subcontracted factories
during the first quarter. Meanwhile, the outbreak of
the Pandemic has led to the shift back of production
to our Heshan Factory. After all, our Heshan Factory’s
contribution to garment production had maintained
at 62.8% (2019: 61.8%) for the year, in terms of
segment revenue. In contracts, subcontracted factories’
contribution in Cambodia decreased to 36.8% (2019:
38.2%). The production shift to Cambodia subcontracted
factories and various cost-savings measures had
improved the overall gross profit margin to 16.3% (2019:
13.5%). Nevertheless, the segment had a segment
loss of HK$0.7 million (2019: segment loss of HK$1.5
million) due to the unavoidable administrative expenses
incurred for the spring and summer periods with limited
productions.

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 /@ 51 38 & 9

b) Securities investment segment

The Hong Kong stock markets got a fluctuating
performance during the year under review. Before the
Pandemic outbreak, HSI rose and reached the 2020
peak of 29,175 points in January 2020. The Pandemic
caused a bear market, and the HSI dropped to the
lowest level of 21,139 points during March and April.
Subsequently, the rebounds had been strong following
the various fiscal stimulus carried out by governments,
and the COVID-19 vaccine breakthroughs. As a result,
HSI decreased by 3.4% compared with 2019, closing
at 27,231 points in 2020 (2019: 28,189 points). For the
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s securities
investment business recorded a fair value loss of HK$0.4
million (2019: HK$0.2 million) and a segment loss of
HK$5.1 million (2019: HK$5.6 million).

Because of the fluctuating stock performance during
the year, the Group continues to adopt a conservative
strategy to conduct its securities investment business.
As of 31 December 2020, the Group’s financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss amounted to HK$1.8
million (31 December 2019: HK$2.2 million), which
comprised of one (31 December 2019: one) Hong Kong
listed corporation that had been held since 2017.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Adopting a conservative financial management approach,
the Group maintains a healthy financial position. As at 31
December 2020, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
was HK$87.1 million (31 December 2019: HK$47.6 million).
Working capital represented by net current assets amounted
to HK$78.5 million (31 December 2019: HK$87.3 million) of
which HK$1.8 million (31 December 2019: HK$2.2 million)
were a Hong Kong listed equity stock. The Group’s current
ratio was 1.9 (31 December 2019: 2.4).
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Bank borrowings comprised term loans of HK$20.0 million
(31 December 2019: nil), which were repayable within one
year. The bank loans were denominated in Euro.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the year under review, the Group incurred a total capital
expenditure of HK$0.8 million (2019: HK$0.4 million), which
was mainly for additions to office equipment.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s sales are principally transacted in US dollars.
With a factory in Mainland China and offices in Hong Kong
and Mainland China, operating expenses of the Group are
primarily settled with Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, and
US dollars. The Group also has bank loans denominated in
Euro.

As the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the US dollar,
exposure to US dollars foreign exchange risk is minimal. The
Group will closely monitor the fluctuation of the other foreign
currency exchange rates and, if necessary, enter into foreign
currency forward contracts to reduce such fluctuation risks.
As at 31 December 2020, the notional amounts of the
outstanding forward contracts were 5.5 million in US dollars.

CREDIT POLICY

Consistent with prevailing industry practice, the Group’s
business was transacted on an open account basis with
its long-standing customers during the year under review.
The credit ratings of customers are constantly reviewed and
their respective credit limits will be adjusted, as and when
necessary.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s land use rights of
HK$9.1 million (2019: Not applicable) and buildings of
HK$51.9 million (2019: Not applicable) in Heshan, Mainland
China were pledged as security for the Group’s bank
borrowings.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had no
contingent liabilities.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group provides a harmonious and professional
working environment to employees as their commitment
and expertise are critical to its business’s long-term
success. It also offers employees rewarding careers and
provides them with various training programs to enhance
their professionalism. The Group remunerates employees
according to prevailing market practices, individual
experience and performance. To attract and retain high-
calibre employees, it also offers discretionary bonuses and
share options based on the individual’s performance and the
Group.

As part of the Group’s strategic plan and cost control
measures, the Group streamlined its Heshan Factory
operation. As consequence, total number of full-time
employees of the Group decreased to 487 as at 31
December 2020 (2019: 756).

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
maintaining the highest environmental and social standards
to ensure sustainable development of its business.
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s
environmental, social and governance (‘ESG”) strategy.
The Board is responsible for ensuring appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems to
mitigate ESG-related risks and meet stakeholders’ needs
and expectations. The Group’s ESG management team
is assigned key responsibilities, including monitoring the
implementation of ESG strategic plans, alerting the Board
of any potential ESG-related risks, reporting to the Board
about the effectiveness of the ESG system and reviewing
stakeholders’ needs and expectations.
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A full 2020 ESG report is being prepared with reference to
Appendix 27 of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide pertaining to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
and will be published on the Group’s and the Stock
Exchange’s websites before 31 May 2021.

OUTLOOK

With the Pandemic’s dormination on economic outlook,
2021 will continue to be a challenging year for the Group as
the global economy is far from resumption to pre-pandemic
levels. The new United States administration’s foreign
economic policies do not seem to favour relieving the Sino-
US trade dispute. Our garment business will be negatively
affected if the China-US relations continue to worsen, as
the US is our largest geographical exporting region. Haven
said that the Group has already taken advanced steps to
cope with the potential impacts, such as engaging overseas
subcontracted factories for US customers’ production
orders. Furthermore, with recent vaccine launches, the
global economy will gradually rebound and the management
believes that it will lead to positive growth in our customers’
orders for the upcoming year.

To cope with the rising production costs in Mainland China
and increase production capacity, we have explored garment
production facilities in other South East Asia countries.
Other than existing Cambodia subcontracted factories,
we have engaged new Indonesia-based subcontracted
factories during the last quarter of 2020. We shall monitor
the outcome and adjust the production allocation strategy
among our own Heshan Factory/overseas subcontracted
factories accordingly.
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As for the Hong Kong stock market, there are several
positive prospects of the markets in 2021. The good news
regarding COVID-19 vaccines is expected to improve
market performance further. The Fourteenth Five-Year Plan’s
Internal Circulation policy is also likely to increase traditional
sectors’ stock value. Many leading companies in the new
economy sector are also planning to complete the listing
in Hong Kong in the near future. However, there are still
several risk factors. The Pandemic is still worsening in some
regions worldwide, which slows down the momentum of
economic recoveries. The Sino-US trade tensions have not
ceased and could impact investment as well. These factors
cause uncertainties in the world economic environment and
hence fluctuations on the stock market. As such, the Group
will continue to take a cautious approach concerning its
securities investment business.

Looking ahead, we will continue focusing on our existing
garment manufacturing and trading business. We will
monitor the impacts of the macroenvironment factors
and adjust the Group’s operation strategies accordingly.
Furthermore, the Group will continue to seek diversification
into other potentially lucrative areas.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is
committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of all shareholders
of the Company and to enhance corporate value. The
Company continuously reviews and improves the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Group to ensure
that business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper manner.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied
with all the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the year ended
31 December 2020, except for certain deviations as
explained in this report.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board is led by the Chairman and currently comprises
two executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Haifeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Ke (Vice President)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi
(Resigned on 6 June 2020)
Mr. Wang Shiming
(Appointed on 6 June 2020)
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The Board possesses a balance of skill and experience
which is appropriate for the requirements of the business of
the Group. A balanced composition of executive and non-
executive directors also generates a strong independent
element on the Board, which can exercise independent
judgement effectively and make decision objectively for the
best interests of the Company.

Save for those as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’
Biographical Details” as set out on pages 43 to 46 of this
Annual Report, there is no relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationship)
among members of the Board.

During the year, four Board meetings were held to approve
annual and interim results, review the business operations,
risk management and internal control systems. The
attendance records of directors are set out on page 32 of
this Annual Report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Li
Haifeng has assumed both the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company since 1 April 2017. The
Board is of the view that the balance of power and authority
is ensured by its operations which comprises experienced
and high caliber individuals with a highly independent
element. The Board believes that this structure is conducive
to strong and consistent leadership, enabling the Company
to execute business strategies and decisions efficiently.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors representing one-
third of the Board with at least one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. All independent
non-executive directors have confirmed their independence
and the Company considers that they are independent in
accordance with the independent guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Appointments and Re-election of Directors

The Board is empowered under the Company’s Bye-laws to
appoint any person as director either to fill a casual vacancy
on or as an additional member of the Board. The selection
criteria are mainly based on the professional qualification
and experience of the candidate and the recommendations
of the Nomination Committee. All directors have entered into
service agreements with the Company for a term of not more
than three years. A newly appointed director must retire
and be re-elected at the first general meeting after his/her
appointment.

At each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third
of the directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation.
Every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. The directors to retire every
year will be those who have been the longest in office since
their last re-election or appointment. As such, no director
has a term of appointment longer than three years. A retiring
director shall be eligible for re-election. During the year,
Mr. Wang Shiming was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company.

Board and Management

To enable all directors to make informed decisions in
the Board meetings and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities, appropriate, complete and reliable
information prepared by the management are provided
in a timely manner. All directors are kept informed on a
timely basis of major changes that may affect the Group’s
business, including relevant rules and regulations. To
reinforce independence, the Board and each director
can have separate and independent access to the
management of the Company if additional information is
required. To further assist the directors to discharge their
duties to the Company, the Board has also established a
written procedure to enable directors to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expenses.
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In order to have a clear principle in relation to the matters
specifically reserved to the Board for decisions, functions
between the Board and the management are formalized.
The Board has established a written guideline determining
which issues require a decision of the Board and those
delegated to the management. Matters reserved to the
Board for decision include the making of significant financial
and legal commitments, mergers and acquisitions, material
asset acquisitions or disposals, the change of share capital,
the approval of financial reporting, budgeting, management
succession and representation to shareholders. The
management is responsible for the day-to-day running of
the Group. The management is required to submit reports
on the operations to the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board on the development of
major projects or business proposals and their respective
implementation. The Board is of the view that such division
of responsibilities can enhance the corporate governance of
the Company.

The Board considers that corporate governance should be
the collective responsibility of directors and delegated the
corporate governance duties to the Audit Committee which
include:

e to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Company;

e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and directors; and

e to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

B RAEEEFREZFTREM
BRERA EFEREEBZHEEST
RE-EFFEIII—MEMEIES =
ERAHESFERERRETEEREZ
FZE - RAEFCFREZSTHUEER
MBRERAE - GHEBREB-EXE
EWBEIHE BERET BRI BR
S iR AE EEEBREIKRBRKREE
tRAE - EEBEEFAEEAZAEE
BE-EEBATHNEFTEEREER
S ERETBEEBNEHRFEER
RESBZEBEBRAAESTGRLE
FoEFERS NIEBEE AR
RATZEEER

ESERREEELRRBEENHE
B BRSETFTERZEGHNEEREE
ABBAEEE -

o FIERBHALNTBNEEERBER
RER THEFTRHES

s BMAMEREFZFNANTSHERE
BREIIRFEEERERE

s BMERKERARAAEETERERE
ERERENBERKRER ;

s FIE-BMEKERBEANEEKRE
ENTATR S &

s BRARARNEBTEEEARTINIG
MREXFEARTHKEER -

Annual Report 2020 fEERE 28



Corporate Governance Report ¥ & A&

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To develop and refresh the knowledge and skills, all directors
have participated in continuous professional development
and provided the Company their training records for the year
ended 31 December 2020 which are summarized as follows:

EFZHBREREYR

ABERUWENENMNEE 2BEF
ERUAFEFIXLERIMAA G RM
REEE_ET_ZFTF+-_A=+—H
IEEEEINZ S SlmmT

Read materials and/or
attended seminars on
responsibility of directors
and other relevant topics

REBEERMEERER
H{tAREENER R~
Directors BS s EERAR g
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Li Haifeng =L 4
Mr. Wang Ke FREE v
Independent Non-Executive BUIFPITEE
Directors
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu 557y e v
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi SRIRT AL 4
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi BBt
(Resigned on 6 June 2020) (R ZEZBFNHNHEFE) v
Mr. Wang Shiming FHERLESE
(Appointed on 6 June 2020) (R ZEZZEFNANHEZF) v

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors of
the Company, all directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions during the year.

Details of the directors’ interests in the shares of the

Company as at 31 December 2020 are set out on pages 47
to 48 of this Annual Report.
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The Board has also established a written guideline on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code for employees of
the Company or director or employee of the Company’s
subsidiaries or holding company who are likely to possess
inside information in relation to the Group or securities of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the
Company in 2020.

Directors’ Liability Insurance

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged by the
Company in respect of legal action against its directors and
officers of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Board set up the Audit Committee in 2000 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
its authority and duties. The terms of reference of Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The principal duties of the Audit
Committee include reviewing the Group’s financial reporting,
the external auditor’s independence, risk management,
internal controls and corporate governance issues and
making recommendations to the Board.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman), Mr. Zhang
Zhenyi and Mr. Wang Shiming, all Audit Committee members
are independent non-executive directors.
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During the year, the Audit Committee held four meetings
and the attendance records of members are set out on page
32 of this Annual Report. The major work performed by the
Audit Committee during the year included, amongst other
things, the following:

20

making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of the external auditors
and approved their terms of engagement;

reviewing the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with the applicable standards;

reviewing the change in accounting standards and
assessment of potential impacts on the Group’s financial
statements;

reviewing the interim and annual financial statements and
the related results announcements;

discussing the risk management and internal control
systems with management including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions;

overseeing and monitoring the operation of Risk
Management and Steering Committee (“RMSC”) such as
reviewing the quarterly and annual report or any ad hoc
report;

reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and made recommendations to

the Board; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.
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Remuneration Committee

The Board set up the Remuneration Committee in 2005
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of
Remuneration Committee are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The principal
duties of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure for directors and senior
management, reviewing and making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of all directors
and senior management with reference to corporate goals
and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time and
ensuring that no director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four
members, namely Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman),
Mr. Wang Ke, Mr. Zhang Zhenyi and Mr. Wang Shiming.
Except for Mr. Wang Ke who is an executive director, all
Remuneration Committee members are independent non-
executive directors.

During the year, one meeting was held by the Remuneration
Committee to review the remuneration of directors and
senior management of the Group, to review the remuneration
policy and structure of directors and senior management, it
also considered and made recommendation to the Board the
remuneration package of Mr. Wang Shiming. The attendance
records of members are set out on page 32 of this Annual
Report.
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The remuneration of each of the directors was determined
in accordance with the remuneration policy. The main
principles of remuneration policy of the Company are:

e to retain and motivate executive directors and senior
management by linking their compensation with
performance as measured against corporate objectives;

e to align executive directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration with shareholders’ interests; and

e to ensure that no director or senior management or
any of his associate is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

When fixing the remuneration packages of executive
directors, considerations have been given to the
qualifications and experience of the executive directors,
their duties and responsibilities with and contributions to
the Group, the level of directors’ remuneration of other
comparable listed companies in Hong Kong, the Group’s
performance and the prevailing market condition. The
principal elements of the remuneration packages of
executive directors of the Company include salary, director’s
fee, double pay, discretionary bonus and share options.

Details of the remuneration of each director, on a named
basis, are disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 117 to 118 of this Annual Report.
Reimbursement is provided for out-of-pocket expenses
incurred (including traveling and hotel expenses) in
connection with the performance of directors’ duties.
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Nomination Committee

The Board set up the Nomination Committee in 2012
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The principal duties of
the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy, formulating,
reviewing and implementing the nomination policy, selection
criteria and nomination procedures for identification,
selection and nomination for the director for the Board’s
approval and making recommendations to the Board on
appointment or re-appointment of directors.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four
members, namely Mr. Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman),
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu, Mr. Zhang Zhenyi and Mr. Wang Shiming.
Except for Mr. Li Haifeng who is an executive director, all
Nomination Committee members are independent non-
executive directors.

During the year, one meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee and the attendance records of members are
set out on page 32 of this Annual Report. During the
year, the Nomination Committee considered and made
recommendations to the Board for the appointment of
Mr. Wang Shiming as an independent non-executive
director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Apart from that, the major work performed by the
Nomination Committee during the year included, amongst
other things, the following:

e to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board;

e {0 assess the independence of the independent non-
executive directors; and

e to consider and make recommendations to the Board
on the re-election of Directors at the annual general
meeting.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will
be based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy which
sets out the selection criteria and nomination procedures
to identify, select and recommend candidates for directors.
When evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships,
the Board will consider criteria include the board diversity
policy, qualifications, character and integrity and such other
perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

Investment Committee

The Board set up the Investment Committee in 2014 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
its authority and duties. The primary role of the Investment
Committee include reviewing and approving the investment
policy and monitoring the securities investment business as
it deems proper to meet the latest development of the Group
or changes in the securities market.

The Investment Committee currently comprises of two

executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Li Haifeng
(Committee Chairman) and Mr. Wang Ke.
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During the year, one meeting was held by the Investment
Committee and the attendance records of members are
set out on page 32 of this Annual Report. The major work
performed by the Investment Committee during the year
included, amongst other things, the following:

e reviewing the investment policy including objectives and
strategy that direct investment activities;

e overseeing investment activities of the Group and
controlling the associated risk levels to assure adherence
to the investment policy; and

e monitoring the performance of the investment portfolio
and considered the re-appointment of the external
investment professionals.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND EEREETHREZHERE
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance of individual Board member in Board BHE —EFE+"A=+—HLE
meetings, Board Committees meetings and general meeting > 1@ E'J%%%‘W%ﬁ?%%@ “EBEEZE
for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out in the table BEERBREAG 2 HECEREN TR
below:

No. of meetings attended/No. of meetings held

HE/ BTEERY
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Investment
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

B BHREEY FMEsE REZAE REZAY BRRAE

Executive Directors

HiTEE

Mr. Li Haifeng 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1
FEERE T TR

Mr. Wang Ke 4/4 N/A 1/1 N/A 1/1 1/1
IRRE ~EBA TER

Independent Non-Executive Directors

BUFHTEE

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1
X IBEE R

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1
RIRERGLE ABA

Ms. Zheng Xianzhi (Resigned on 6 June 2020) 1/4 2/4 N/A 1/1 N/A 1/1
BEBL T (RZF_FENHNHGHT) AEH TEHA

Mr. Wang Shiming (Appointed on 6 June 2020) 3/4 2/4 11 N/A N/A N/A
IHELE (R ZEZFEAANHEZH) TER TEA ~EA

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held BREHEETg RN TRITEERT
meetings with independent non-executive directors without ERNERT EETEBIIFRITES

the presence of executive directors during the year. RERBITT —REEo

8 2 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]



Corporate Governance Report ¥ & A&

RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND
REPORTING OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the financial statements of
the Group in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The directors will select
suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently,
make judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable and prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Board aims to present a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and
prospects in presenting annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules as well as the information
required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

The statement of the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements of the
Group is set out on pages 56 to 63 of this Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks that the Group is willing
to take in achieving its strategic objectives, and has the
ultimate responsibility to maintain a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems for the
Group and review their effectiveness so as to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets and ensure
strict compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations.
The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems, ensuring strict compliance with relevant rules and
regulations as well and reporting to the Board.
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In line with last year, the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are based on the Internal Control
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of Treadway Commission in the
US in 2013 (2013 COSO Framework”) and Internal Control
and Risk Management — A Basic Framework issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants which
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The RMSC, with management from
different business units, has assisted the Board and Audit
Committee in discharging their duties in risk management
and internal control functions by drafting an annual internal
audit plan, ensuring a smooth audit checking on the Group
business operations according to the audit plans designed
and reporting to the Board and/or Audit Committee any
potential risks facing the Group in a timely manner.

The Group understands that risk management and internal
control systems are not merely about policies and manuals,
but about people and the actions they take at every level
of the Group. To support all employees in ever-changing
markets, regular training is provided to strengthen their
awareness of risk and capability to manage risks. During
the year, the Board together with the Audit Committee,
reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions,
and were satisfied with the results of the review.

All in all, the Board continues to enhance and oversee the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems with
the support of the Audit Committee and RMSC. Below are
the review process and results regarding the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended
31 December 2020.
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

RMSC designed, implemented and monitored the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems by
considering the five integrated components of 2013 COSO
Framework, namely, control environment, risk assessment,
control activities, information and communication and
monitoring activities.

During the risk assessment process, RMSC identified the
significant risks facing the Group. A risk matrix report was
prepared which prioritised risks according to the likelihood of
their occurrence and the significance of their impact on the
business of the Group.

Following the review and endorsement of the risk matrix
report by the Audit Committee and the Board, RMSC
developed an annual internal audit plan to evaluate the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. RMSC investigated and assessed what
internal control procedures were to be executed to ensure
the identified significant risks were managed within the
acceptable level. These internal control procedures covered
material controls designed to provide reasonable assurance
as to the achievement of the Group’s objectives including
financial, operational and compliance controls. A monthly
Independent internal audit was performed by RMSC
members to test and evaluate whether the selected internal
controls were effective. During the year, RMSC members
had performed internal audit on the Group’s business cycles
including foreign currency exchange, revenue, purchase,
information management, human resources, payroll, health
and safety check as well as cash payment.

In addition, each existing business segment was required
to perform assessment on the effectiveness of its risk
management and internal control systems on an annual
basis. The assessment questionnaire sets out key factors
in each of the five integrated components of 2013 COSO
Framework.
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With the assessment questionnaires from each business
segment, monthly, quarterly and annual reports from RMSC,
the Audit Committee closely monitored the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
and reported to the Board on an ongoing basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, both the Audit
Committee and the Board were not aware of any material
internal control defects and were satisfied that the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group have
been effective and adequate.

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company formulated the inside information policy as
a guideline to handle and disseminate inside information
in order to ensure the Group is in compliance with the
regulatory requirements. The inside information policy
contains a strict prohibition on unauthorised use of inside
information and sets out, inter alia, establishment of the
inside information identification, reporting and disclosure
protocol and procedures. For the year ended 31 December
2020, inside information was disseminated in accordance
with the inside information policy and the applicable laws
and regulations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited is the external auditor of
the Company. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
external auditor received the following remuneration for audit
services provided to the Group:
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Audit services TR

The Audit Committee received written confirmation from
the external auditor on its independence and objectivity
as required by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

8 6 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

900
900
BEZLZESERENI BRI ES

UMREREERZEEESS > R
HENGEBESMAGZEE -



Corporate Governance Report ¥ & A&

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. The
Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In order to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders,
shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general
meeting of the Company at which the Chairman of the Board
and the chairmen of the Board committees are pleased to
answer questions related to the Group’s business.

To promote effective communication, the Company has
adopted a shareholders communication policy which aims
at ensuring the shareholders of the Company are provided
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company, in order to
enable shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow shareholders to engage actively with
the Company. The Company also maintains a corporate
website at www.carrywealth.com in order to disseminate
information on a timely basis and the published information
will be maintained at the above website for at least five
years.

To maintain a balance between meeting expectations of
the shareholders of the Company and prudent capital
management, the Company has also adopted a divided
policy which sets out the basic principles and considerations
factors in determining the distribution of the dividends by the
Board. Under the dividend policy, the Company may declare
and distribute dividends to the shareholders, provided
that the Group records a profit and that the declaration
and distribution of dividend does not affect the Group’s
normal operations, the distribution and payment of dividend
shall be subject to the requirements under the Bye-laws
of the Company, the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended) and all applicable laws and regulations. In
proposing distribution of dividends, the Board will consider
the factors include the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, general economic conditions and
other internal or external factors that may have an impact
on the business or financial performance and position
of the Group and any other factors that the Board deem
appropriate.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders to Convene a Special General Meeting
and Putting Forward Proposals at General Meeting

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, shareholders’
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
can by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company to convene a special general
meeting for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. In compliance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules, any annual general
meeting, and general meeting at which the passing of a
special resolution is to be considered shall be called by at
least 20 clear business days’ notice, whilst others may be
called by at least 10 clear business days’ notice.

To further enhance the minority shareholders’ right, all
resolutions at any general meeting are decided on poll and
such practice has been adopted since 2005. The chairman
of any general meetings ensures that the shareholders are
informed of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll by
way of making the explanation at the commencement of the
general meetings. The chairman of general meetings also
ensures full compliance with the requirements about voting
by poll contained in the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws of
the Company.
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Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a
Director

The procedures for a shareholder to propose a person for
election as a director can be found on the website of the
Company. Shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all shareholders having
at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the general
meeting or who are no less than 100 shareholders can
submit a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary to propose a resolution relating to other matters
at a general meeting. The written requisition must state the
resolution, accompanied by a statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to
in the proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at the general meeting and contain the signatures of all the
requisitionists (which may be contained in one document or
in several documents in like form). Such requisition must be
deposited at the Company’s registered office at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda not less
than six weeks before the general meeting in the case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than
one week before the general meeting in the case of any
other requisition and be accompanied by a sum of money
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses
in serving the notice of the resolution and circulating the
statement given by the requisitionists to all shareholders in
accordance with the requirements under the applicable laws
and rules.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Specific enquiries or suggestions by shareholders can be
sent in writing to the Board at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong or by email to the Company
(info@carrywealth.com). In addition, shareholders can
contact Tricor Abacus Limited, the Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer agent of the Company, if they have
any enquiries about their shareholdings and entitlement to
dividend. Relevant contact details are set out on page 4 of
this Annual Report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year.
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Report of the Directors

The directors present their report together with the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
33 to the financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s
performance for the year by operating segment is set out in
Note 8 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020 is set out on pages 11 to 19 under
Management Discussion and Analysis of this Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income on page 64. The directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of

the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 5
of this Annual Report.

BANK BORROWING

Particulars of the Group’s borrowing and pledged assets are
set out in Note 25 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors B E &R &

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS FEHEERER
The percentages of purchases and sales for the year AREBTEHERRERNRENA
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers ZRERHEBDLEWT !
are as follows:
() Purchases REE
— the largest supplier —RAHER 15.3%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate —hAARHERSE 55.7%
(i)  Sales HE
— the largest customer —RAKR 99.3%
— five largest customers in aggregate —hAAREFR & 100%

None of the directors, their close associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of
the directors owns more than 5% of the issued shares of
the Company) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had no reserve (31
December 2019: Nil) available for distribution as computed
in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended). However, the Company’s share premium account
in the amount of HK$217,761,000 as at 31 December 2020
(31 December 2019: HK$217,761,000) may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares, subject to the
shareholders’ approval of the Company and compliance
with provision of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended) and the Bye-laws of the Company.

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in Note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors B E & #R &

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Mr. Li Haifeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Ke (Vice President)
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu*
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi#
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi#
(Resigned on 6 June 2020)
Mr. Wang Shiming*
(Appointed on 6 June 2020)

# Independent Non-Executive Director

In accordance with bye-law 86(2) and 87 of the Company’s
Bye-laws, Mr. Wang Shiming, Mr. Li Haifeng and Mr. Yau
Wing Yiu shall retire from office by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for reelection at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu, Mr. Zhang Zhenyi and Mr. Wang Shiming
are independent non-executive directors of the Company
and all of them were appointed for a term not more than
three years. The Board has received annual confirmations of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
directors of the Company pursuant to Rules 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and as at the date of this Annual Report still
considers them to be independent.
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Report of the Directors B E &R &

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Mr. Li Haifeng
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Li Haifeng, former name as Z/&l%, aged 50, was
appointed as the Chairman and executive director of the
Company in June 2011 and is the Chairman of both the
Nomination Committee and Investment Committee of the
Company. He was also appointed as a Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in April 2017. Mr. Li is the sole
director of Dragon Peace Limited, a substantial shareholder
of the Company. He is responsible for overall corporate and
business development and strategic direction of the Group,
and provides leadership for the board of directors of the
Company. Mr. Li has extensive experience in information
technology and waste water treatment industries. He is
currently an executive director and a vice president of Beijing
Enterprises Water Group Limited (“BEWG”) (a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange; stock
code: 371) and the chairman of the supervisory committee
of BEWG Environmental Group Co., Ltd., a wholly owned
subsidiary of BEWG, and is mainly responsible for both
the PRC and overseas water markets. Mr. Li is also a non-
executive director of Beijing Enterprises Urban Resources
Group Limited (a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange; stock code: 3718). Mr. Li holds a Bachelor
degree in Law from the Faculty of Law in Peking University in
1992.
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Report of the Directors B E & #R &

Mr. Wang Ke
Vice President

Mr. Wang Ke, aged 36, has been appointed as an executive
director and vice president of the Company since March
2018 and is a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and Investment Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wang has over ten years of experience in the field of
investment. From August 2010 to August 2011, he was an
investment manager in China Kingho Energy Group Co.,
Ltd. From January 2014 to August 2014, Mr. Wang was
an investment manager in China Gas Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 384). He was also a senior vice president at
Pohua JT Management Limited from 2014 to 2016. Mr.
Wang has been a director of Magic Assets Limited, a
company providing investment and finance consultancy
services, since February 2015. From November 2017 to
June 2020, he was a non-executive director of Kong Sun
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 295). He holds a Master of
Arts in Global Business Management from the City University
of Hong Kong.

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu, aged 54, was appointed as independent
non-executive director of the Company in July 2011
and is the Chairman of both the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. He has extensive experience
in financial management, corporate finance and investment.
Mr. Yau was the partner and chief financial officer of AID
Partners Capital Limited which is a private equity investment
fund. Mr. Yau also worked for various listed companies in
Hong Kong and overseas and a number of international
investment banks. He was an executive director,
independent non-executive director and chief financial
officer of China Everbright Water Limited (formerly known as
HanKore Environment Tech Group Limited, whose shares are
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited,
stock code: U9E). Mr. Yau is a member of both American
Institute of Certified Public Accountant and Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountant. He holds a Master
Degree of Business Administration in Finance from The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Graduate
School of Business and a BA (Hons) in Business Studies
from The City University of Hong Kong.
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Report of the Directors B E &R &

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi, aged 40, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company
in March 2017 and is a member of each of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang has been appointed
as the Deputy Chief Financial Officer of Mason Group
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 273) in January 2020.
He was also appointed as an executive director and Chief
Financial Officer of Mason Group Holdings Limited in April
2020. From January 2018 to February 2020, he was an
executive director, chief financial officer and authorized
representative of Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (“Wan
Kei Group”) (a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1718), and re-designated
to a non-executive director of Wan Kei Group from March
2020. He was appointed as an independent director of
Jiangsu Protruly Vision Technology Group Co., Ltd. in July
2018 (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 600074). Mr. Zhang has extensive experience
in financial, risk and investment management. Prior to that,
he served as the finance in charge and project in charge of
an automobile group in PRC and a consulting firm listed on
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhang obtained a Master Degree
of Business Management from University of Science and
Technology Beijing in 2011, he holds qualifications as a
Certified Public Accountant, Senior International Finance
Manager and Senior Accountant in the PRC and a CPA
Australia. Mr. Zhang is a fellow member of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants and holds certificates
of Chartered Global Management Accountant certificate
and certificate of independent director of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. He is also a corporate tutor of Master of
Professional Accounting in Harbin Institute of Technology
and an instructor of Master of Accounting and Auditing in
Jinan University.
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Mr. Wang Shiming
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Wang Shiming, aged 44, was appointed as independent
non-executive director of the Company in June 2020 and is
a member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He
has been the deputy general manager of Shanghai Heca
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (E&#EEEREAR
‘AE])since March 2017, responsible for investment and
management. Prior to this, Mr. Wang worked in various
PRC companies and was responsible for investment and
financing. Mr. Wang had extensive experience in the field of
investment, financing and management of IT projects. He
holds a Master of Software Engineering from University of
Electronic Technology in the PRC, he is also an associate
member of Association of International Accountant.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF A DIRECTOR

The change in the information of a director of the Company,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules, is as follows:

Name of Director

ERNS

Details of Change
SEHE
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BIUIFHTTEE

FHBELEE 445 R_TE_ZTFXH
EEZEIAERRBBIUIERNTES WD
MBEABDBEZEZEE FTNEEERK
REEZEGZMEB-HHR-_TE—tF=
BERLELEH EEERNEBRATE
FRIBEKLE aERENREERBE &
bz g EERERZSERRNA S ER:
EERMERB TAENRKMERIT
BEEEEBEEELR RIFATHE
FREREBHRGETREBLZ20U 1A

RESMAEEE-

RiE FHIRBIE13.51BA)EIRTE » 223K

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

Becoming a member of CPA Australia, a corporate tutor of Master of

Professional Accounting in Harbin Institute of Technology and an instructor
of Master of Accounting and Auditing in Jinan University.

SRIRESTE

ARMNEMEStEN B ETIEAREHREIEX2UREERELTEM

WREBERMAZE - BtELHRELEERIEEHAM-

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors B E &R &

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company, which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty, or supposed duty provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to the directors. Such provisions were
in force during the year ended 31 December 2020 and
remained in force as of the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2020, the interests of the directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 352 of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”) or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:
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Report of the Directors B E & #R &

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each REQFREDESREE.10BTZE

in the share capital of the Company BRZIFE
Number of shares held
FERHEE
Percentage of
Personal Corporate issued share
Name of director Capacity interests interests  Total interests capital
HEHT
ERR g4 BARED G $ e AT
Mr. Li Haifeng Interest of a controlled = 404,944,690 404,944,690 49.50
FTEAELE _corporation (Note)
REGZEZ R (P %)
Beneficial owner 9,664,706 - 9,664,706 1.18
EREAA
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu Beneficial owner 698,235 S 698,235 0.08
iy e BEREBA
Note: The shares were held by Dragon Peace Limited, which was wholly MIsE © ZZE R {DHDragon Peace Limitedi¥ A >
owned by Mr. Li Haifeng. MZABAHESHELEELEHES -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of PREMPIIEEEN RIBEIEF+Z
the directors and chief executives of the Company or their B=+t—H #BEBARDEERES
respective associates had any interests or short positions THAERARBINEEE LB (E&
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the REBEFRAEEAEXVE) 895 ~ 18
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning B REEET  BEEBLARES
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to FRAEEAEI52K BT HEFHNER
be kept under section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified fit > IR TR ZE T RIZBIB A A A B K Bk
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the XTI ERSK B ©

Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed in the sections headed
“‘DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND/
OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATION” and “SHARE
OPTION SCHEME” herein, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its parent company
or any subsidiary of its parent company a party to any
arrangement to enable the Company’s directors or their
respective spouses or children under 18 years of age to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
any of its subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary
of its parent company was a party and in which a director
of the Company or his/her connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the directors of the Company had
any interest in a business (other than those businesses
where the directors of the Company were appointed as
directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or
any member of the Group) which is considered to compete
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, as recorded in the register
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, the
Company had been notified of the following person (other
than the directors and chief executive of the Company) who
had interests in the shares and/or underlying shares of the
Company which fell to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
in the share capital of the Company

FERRESLE 0D RERR
Rz R WA

RW_E_EF+_A=+—H %K
NN B RS S R EE K H 53361 F 1=
ZHMAE  ARBEBEEUT AL (A
NEEFHIRSITHRAERI BRH
RAEARABRGD R/ EERDPRHERE
@ MBIREE S RS RO EXVIEL S
2R EIDERARNBIIE -

REAR RSP EREE10BTZE
BlkzFE

Number of Percentage of
ordinary issued share
Name of shareholder Capacity shares capital
&k BT
BRR BB 515 ke & E (i = g s
Dragon Peace Limited Beneficial owner 404,944,690 49.50
(Note)
Bm#EEA (FF %)

Note: The shares were held by Dragon Peace Limited, which was wholly
owned by Mr. Li Haifeng. These interests were duplicated with
the interests of Mr. Li Haifeng as disclosed in the section headed
“DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND/OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY SPECIFIED
UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION".

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the
Company had not been notified of any other person (other
than the directors and chief executive of the Company)
who had an interest or short positions in the shares and/or
underlying shares of the Company which fell to be disclosed
to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of
the Company, there is a sufficiency of public float of the
Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules as
at the date of this Annual Report.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

On 22 May 2012, the shareholders of the Company
approved the adoption of a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”). A summary of the principal terms of the Scheme,
as disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules is as
follows:

(i) Purpose

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant options to participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Company and/or any of the subsidiaries.

(ii) Qualifying participants

Any person being an employee, director (including
executive director, non-executive director or independent
non-executive director), consultant, representative,
professional adviser, customer, business partner, joint
venture partner, strategic partner, landlord or tenant
of, or any supplier or provider of goods or services to,
the Company or any subsidiary, and any trustee(s) of a
discretionary trust of which one or more beneficiaries
belong to any of the abovementioned category(ies) of
persons.

(ifi) Maximum number of shares

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme is 80,470,023 which is 9.83% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this
Annual Report.

RIFARFIRE
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(iv)

(v)

b2

Maximum entitlement of each qualifying participant

No qualifying participant shall be granted any options
which, if exercised in full, would result in such person’s
maximum entitlement exceeding 1% of the aggregate
number of shares for the time being issued and issuable
under the Scheme in the 12-month period up to and
including the proposed grant date unless such grant
is approved in advance by the shareholders in general
meeting.

No qualifying participant who is a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or any of their respective associates shall be
granted any options, which, if exercised in full, would
result in the shares issued and issuable to such person
under the Scheme in the 12-month period up to and
including the proposed grant date for such options,
unless such grant of options is approved in advance by
the shareholders of the Company in general meeting:

(@) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the number
of shares then in issue; and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets on each relevant date on
which the grant of such options is made to such
person under the relevant scheme, in excess of
HK$5 million.

Option period

In respect of any particular option, such period
commencing on the date of grant or such later date as
the directors may decide and expiring on such date as
the directors may determine, such period not to exceed
10 years from the date of grant.

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]
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(vi) Acceptance of offer

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for
acceptance for a period of 30 days from the date of
the letter containing the grant. An offer of the grant of
the option shall be regarded as having been accepted
when the duplicate of the grant letter duly signed by
the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof is received by the Company.

(vii) Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular option
shall be such price as the Board may determine at the
date of grant of the relevant option but shall be at least
the highest of:

(@) The closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day;

(b) The average closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

(c) The nominal value of the Company’s shares.

(viii)The remaining life of the Scheme

The directors shall be entitled at any time within 10 years
commencing on 22 May 2012 to offer the grant of an
option to any qualifying participants.

No share options were outstanding as at 1 January 2020
and 31 December 2020. No share options were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “SHARE
OPTION SCHEME” in this Annual Report, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares, or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares, were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the Laws of Bermuda.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 39 of
this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MATTERS

The Company’s compliance with the relevant provisions
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules for the
financial year ended 31 December 2020 will be set out in a
standalone Environmental, Social and Governance Report
and published on the Group’s and the Stock Exchange’s
websites before 31 May 2021.
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as the auditor of the
Company and SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited has been
appointed as the auditor of the Company to fill the causal
vacancy following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCooper,
both with effect from 31 July 2020.

The financial statements have been audited by SHINEWING
(HK) CPA Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting. A resolution will be submitted to the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting to re-appoint
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as the auditor of the
Company.

Save for the above, there has been no other change in the
auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Ke
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 22 March 2021
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Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

Shine‘ZOan

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Carry Wealth
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 144,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects on the corresponding
figures of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion below,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019 were audited by another auditor (the “Predecessor
Auditor”) who expressed a qualified opinion (the “2019 Report”) on
those consolidated financial statements on 27 March 2020 due to scope
limitations. As set out in the 2019 Report, the management was unable
to recover the missing accounting records of Unity Resources Group
Pte. Limited (“URG”), a subsidiary of an associate, for the year ended
31 December 2018 and the Predecessor Auditor was unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence in respect of the carrying value of the
investment in and loans to the associate as at 31 December 2018. Any
adjustments to the opening balances of the investment in and loans to the
associate as at 1 January 2019 would have a significant consequential
effect on the share of result of HK$nil and reversal of impairment loss for
loans to the associate of HK$3,462,000 recognised for the year ended 31
December 2019. There were no other satisfactory audit procedures that the
Predecessor Auditor could perform to determine whether any adjustments
were necessary in respect of the balances of the investment in and loans
to the associate as at 1 January 2019 (both of HK$nil) and the Group’s
share of result of the associate and reversal of impairment loss for loans to
the associate and the related disclosures for the year ended 31 December
2019. As at the date of this report, the management was still unable to
recover the missing accounting records of URG for the year ended 31
December 2018 and we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence in respect of the opening balances of the investment in and loans
to the associate as at 1 January 2019, and the consequential effect on the
share of result of HK$nil and reversal of impairment loss for loans to the
associate of HK$3,462,000 recognised for the year ended 31 December
2019.

As explained in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
disposed of URG in September 2019. Therefore, the scope limitation
did not have an impact on consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended. As a result, the
comparative information disclosed for the corresponding period may not
be comparable to that of the current year. Our opinion on the current
year’s financial statements is modified because of the possible effects
of this matter on the comparability of the current year’s figures and the
corresponding figures.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our qualified opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS R E st HIAE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, BB TEERERMANEXLE  RAHA
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial AR EMBRRNESTRAEENSH - BES
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the BREAERMEAERBG SV ERERRHAERRER
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, ETEEN EMAFASHEEEBEREERNE
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate R-BRTIMRBERNER BoFAEEIN &K
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Basis MEEUATEEATETRS P EBNREBESET
for Qualified Opinion section, we have determined the matters described £Ige

below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Impairment assessment of properties, plant and equipment and ME- -BERBEREAEEEZRERE
right-of-use assets

Refer to notes 6, 17 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements FANBRAGEMBRRMET N 17TR2TUKRE
respectively and the accounting policies on page 89. SOE M ST o

The key audit matter
[iFe g e

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESNAEERRESSE

The carrying value of properties, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets attributable to the Group amounted to
HK$62,737,000 and HK$12,123,000 as at 31 December
2020 respectively. The Group’s property, plant and
equipment comprised of buildings and other fixed assets
amounted to HK$51,905,000, HK$10,832,000 respectively
and the Group’s right-of-use assets comprised of land use
right and office premise of HK$9,121,000 and HK$3,002,000
respectively.

NR_Z2_TF+"_A=+—H> EEEELYE -KE
REEREAREENIKREED ] %62,737,000%8 7T &
12,123,000t EEENYE BEAXECESED
A1 #351,905,0007%8 75 5210,832,0008 T EF R EMEE &
Ek BEENCRESESEZEDNA9,121,000%8 7T
%23,002,00078 70 19 - M E AR R A ZE ©

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded
a loss of HK$15,274,000. Management considers this as
an indicator of impairment, triggering a need to perform an
impairment assessment of the Group’s properties, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets.
HEZCZF+_A=+—BHLFE> BEEEREE
815,274,000 - BEEER AU DR EN R > 51 H&HE T
& BEEVE BRERILEBREREEEZRE

o8
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Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of properties, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets included the following:

EMEFAECEBEYE BERREREHAESEERETGENE
FaE

— assessed the impairment assessment performed by the
management and the reasonableness of value-in-use
calculation prepared by the management including assessed
the reasonableness of cash flow forecast and compared with
actual results available up to the report date.

- FMEEEEBETHRETGREEEEENEREBESEZE
HNEEY gEThReREFANGEE REEERSH
NERERETLER
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Impairment assessment of properties, plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets (Continued)

The key audit matter
(e e

ME- -BERRFEREREREZRERE (8

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANENAEERRESSE

Buildings are revalued annually and carried at revalued
amount, hence management considered there to be no
impairment. Management determined the recoverable
amount of remaining assets based on the higher of their
value-in-use and fair value less cost of disposals.
BFEFTUEM WHEMESEIER FHit> EBETHIL
ERE-EEEREBEFTEENERBEREANERLER
AZBENREE  EEH N EENPIEIEEE

Based on the estimation of the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit by reference to a value-in-use
calculation, the management determined that no impairment
of these property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets is required.
BE2EZEREEEEHZRTELEBUNATRESEEE
st EEBEEZEVE RERRBEREAREER
BRME

The estimate of recoverable amount of these assets involved
management judgement in determining the future cash flows
and key parameters for the value-in-use calculation.
ZEEENREEENHEHIRERENREERRIBERE
REREESEEESHERNHE -

challenged the appropriateness of the key parameters
underlying the cash flows forecasts against the historical
performance and latest market expectations.
BERNELRRBREMHIZTRAERIRS RS RAPTREN T
B2YNBEE M-

challenged the discount rate adopted in the value-in-
use calculations by reviewing the basis of calculation and
comparing the input data to market sources.
BABTEERY I A BBRETISRIRETILER  BiE
EREESERHRANRIRER
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Valuation of trade receivables EREKRHIEZEE
Refer to notes 6, 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the FR2RREUHBRERWE6 22K FE83EE FH87
accounting policies from pages 83 to 87. B g TR

The key audit matter
PSSt E1E

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESNAEERRESSE

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had trade receivables of
approximately HK$35,920,000.
RZZ2ZEF+"A=+—H> B£ENEZERKRELN
#335,920,00078 7z ©

Loss allowances for trade receivables are based on
management’s estimate of the expected credit losses to be
incurred, which involved the estimate of probability of default,
loss given default and forward looking adjustments.

BRI RIENGEEE N ENEEEHREENTERESR
BHENMGE RS RENRE - ENBREXKAEMAEN
&5t e

Management estimated these parameters by taking into
account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade
receivables, customers’ repayment history and customers’
financial position and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions, all of which involve a
significant degree of management judgement.
BEEKLEEEEGELR AHREZRIRENRE &
PIBRRE 2 R B P B 75 AR 0 DA e 3 3R s e TR B R AR IR
M (9P R EEREINERHIE) G5tZE2H e

Furthermore, in view of the significant balance, the
recoverability of trade receivables posed significant risk on
the Group’s liquidity.

thoh - R KBS ERREIEN T EIESE BS£E
NREBEEELEERRE -
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Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of trade receivables
included the following:
MG E SR EARIENGENEFOE

— understanding and evaluating the key controls that the Group
has implemented to manage and monitor its credit risk, to
measure the expected credit loss and the validity of the
control effectiveness on a sample basis;

- THREMh BEEABELREEHEERBEERNEE
FEH > LUhA S st EFRHRE BB IBRAERIN B WML ;

— assessing, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of the
trade receivables as at 31 December 2020 to the underlying
financial records and post year end settlements to bank
receipts;

- B AARBEEBEBERTEN B _FF+ A8
=S+—HAMNEZRERHRIENREES RRITRARNERLES
g,

— inquiring of management for the status of the material trade
receivables past due as at year end and corroborating
explanations from management with supporting evidence,
such as performing public search of selected customers,
understanding on-going business relationship with the
customers based on their trade records; and

- PMEEETHAMANFERBARNEXNESRBUGRIERNK
WiEBEREEEEENME MHERENS R ETARNA
B REBRENES TR T REATANRBE XSG &

— assessing the reasonableness, with assistance of auditor’s
expert, of management’s loss allowance estimates by
examining the information used by management to form
such judgements, including testing the accuracy of the
historical default data, evaluating whether the historical loss
rates are appropriately adjusted based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information and examining
the actual losses recorded and assessing whether there was
an indication of management bias when recognising loss
allowances.

- REMERNBE T BEARETEREERNMEAENE
B ORFARERENBBENERY  THELENXZES
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OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 were audited by the Predecessor Auditor who expressed
a qualified opinion on these consolidated financial statements on 27 March
2020.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. As described in
the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence to determine whether any adjustments were
necessary to the consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash
flows for the year ended 31 December 2019. Accordingly, we are unable to
conclude whether or not the other information is materially misstated with
respect to the matters set out therein.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for reviewing and providing supervision
over the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report & 37 1% BB ¥R &

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lee Shun Ming.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Shun Ming

Practising Certificate Number: PO7068

Hong Kong
22 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 47 &% RE M2 EWRAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

2020 2019
“BIRF —“ZT—NHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% F#ET FET
Revenue &t 7 290,515 331,722
Cost of sales iH & A (243,491) (286,850)
Gross profit EF 47,024 44,872
Other income and gains HAU A K I8 & 9 3,104 283
Reversal of impairment loss on %ﬁ?ﬁ%—%ﬁﬂﬁ%/ﬁﬁz
loans to an associate SR (B Er 1B £ [0] 18 - 3,462
Selling and distribution expenses ﬁé%& 7 EH RS2 (10,179) (8,394)
Administrative and other operating  TEREHMEERX
expenses (54,253) (54,104)
Finance income BMEUWA 10 53 252
Finance expense MEM= 10 (1,023) (1,196)
Loss before taxation IR EiES1E 11 (15,274) (14,825)
Income tax expense iSRS 14 - =
Loss for the year attributable to ZAAFEIZFEA
equity holders of the Company  FE{LFEEEE (15,274) (14,825)
Other comprehensive income Hth2mUA
Item that will not be reclassified HBETAEMFEE
subsequently to profit or loss EmikzEH
Gain on revaluation of properties, Mz EGIE OBRRIE
net of tax 2,235 4,445
Item that may be reclassified BB OB DEE
subsequently to profit or loss EmikzEH
Exchange differences on translation EEINEHFZEREERE
of overseas operations 986 931
Other comprehensive income for FEEMEZEKA
the year, net of tax ORI IE 3,221 5,376
Total comprehensive expense for mABEZEIFHA
the year attributable to equity Bl EE2mEAZEEE
holders of the Company (12,053) (9,449)
LOSS PER SHARE - (HK CENTS) #2518 — (&)
— basic and diluted —EBEARKi#E 15 (1.87) (1.81)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BRI R

As at 31 December 2020 R _ZE_ZF+_H=+—H
2020 2019
—EZEE _—T—NHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FExT FAETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment MEBERERE 17 62,737 65,655
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 27 12,123 14,129
Investment in an associate R—EBEStEZRE 18 - =
Investment in a joint venture R—EEeErEZLRE 19 - -
Deposit and other receivables REhHMEWRIE 22 724 724
75,584 80,508
CURRENT ASSETS MEEE
Inventories 75 20 39,305 45,356
Trade and other receivables B 5 kHMEWRIE 22 41,815 54,299
Financial assets at fair value through %A &5t AIBHER (
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) QAR EFAB@IER)
ZETHMEE 21 2,454 2,177
Cash and bank balances B & K IR1T 45 6R 23 87,098 47,600
170,672 149,432
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEBaf
Trade and other payables B hEMENRIE 24 69,933 60,166
Lease liabilities HEaRE 27 2,222 1,961
Bank borrowings IRITEMR 25 20,013 -
92,168 62,127
NET CURRENT ASSETS MBEERE 78,504 87,305
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #BEERFHARB
LIABILITIES 154,088 167,813
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 4% & B4 84Kk

As at 31 December 2020 R-_E-_ZBF+_F=+—H

2020 2019
—BEE _—_T—NE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt % FExT FBIT

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 790 3,207
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEEE 26 14,046 13,301
14,836 16,508
NET ASSETS BEFE 139,252 151,305

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEEXRE#E
Share capital %N 28 81,804 81,804
Reserves ki 29 57,448 69,501
TOTAL EQUITY ‘R 139,252 151,305

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 144 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 March 2021 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Li Haifeng
*i5i
Chairman

ZE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE

—Em—=

—

F+RA=1+—HLFE

== 3L 4

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 4% & HE 3

Im -

Attributable to owners of the Company

4

B R

FRFRREE RS
Property
Share Share Merger  revaluation  Translation Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
&4 RipiEE BHiE NEEGHE ERGE RER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TET TEx TER TEx TAT TEx
At 1 January 2019 RZZ2—hE-F—H 81,804 217,761 (200) 35,461 (36,705) (137,367) 160,754
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - (14,825) (14,825)
Other comprehensive income FEEMZEWNA
for the year:
Gain on revaluation of properties, BMEz R 1%RRE
net of tax = = = 4,445 = = 4,445
Exchange differences on translation BRERINEBMESLZ
of overseas operations ERER - - - - 931 - 931
Total comprehensive income (expense)  EEZEUWA (%) 4%
for the year - - - 4,445 931 (14,825) (9,449)
At 31 December 2019 RIZ-NF
+-A=+-H 81,804 217,761 (200) 39,906 (35,774) (152,192) 151,305
Loss for the year FEFR - - - - - (15,274) (15,274)
Other comprehensive income FEHEMZEANA
for the year:
Gain on revaluation of properties, SEEzWE NERE
net of tax - - - 2,235 - - 2,235
Exchange differences on translation BWEBIEBMEEY
of overseas operations ERER - - - - 986 - 986
Total comprehensive income (expense)  EEZEWA (B%) A%
for the year - - - 2,235 986 ({5214 (12,03)
At 31 December 2020 RZZEZEE
+ZB=+-8 81,804 217,761 (200) 42,141 (34788 (167,466) 139,252
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #ZSIRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

2020 2019
“EBIRF —ZT—IHF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
i F#Ex FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Loss before taxation PRI AIES 18 (15,274) (14,825)
Adjustments for: PEE
Depreciation of property, ME-BERREITE
plant and equipment 7,576 7,285
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 2,463 1,687
Gains on disposal of property, HEWZE - -BE K&
plant and equipment Rz (14) (166)
Provision for inventories FE#EE 597 -
Reversal of impairment loss on MIET—REBEREZ
loans to an associate BRUREREBERED - (3,462)
Exchange losses, net PE 2 E5 18 /2 58 522 -
Fair value gain on financial BAREFABRERZ
derivatives at FVTPL EMUTETARZ
NAERZE (646) —
Interest income from structured EREERIEA
deposits (244) -
Interest income ) E WA (53) (252)
Interest expenses AMERX 1,023 1,196
Operating cash outflows before BESSEBm2EE
movements in working capital RERH (4,050) (8,537)
Decrease in inventories E8RL 6,894 14,515
Decrease (increase) in trade and B 5 K H i FE R IE e D
other receivables (18 10) 12,674 (20,100)
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 KM EMERIEE N
other payables GRiZ) 7,744 (4,593)
Decrease in equity securities at BAREESTABREZ
FVTPL A& 2N 58 75 08 L 369 160
Net cash generated from (used in) & E4E (FiA) 23R
operations 23,631 (18,5595)
Interest paid EFE (1,023) (1,196)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REFEHESE FRA) Z
(USED IN) OPERATING BRE
ACTIVITIES 22,608 (19,751)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #F &R ERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—EEE —_ZT—NHF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M sE FExT FAET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES _REEH
Purchases of property, BEME -BREKRRZE
plant and equipment (777) (432)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HE¥E -HEKRKZEZ
plant and equipment FriS =18 57 170
Placement of structured deposits EREBEER (62,921) -
Withdrawal of structured deposits RSB MEER 62,921 —
Placement of pledged bank deposits FHEIKIFIRITIER (3,630) -
Loans to an associate ERF—ERMEbE - (1,246)
Loan repayments from an associate #AT—RBECESH
(=E= - 4,708
Interest received B UF B 297 252
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED &E;&% (FiR) EX 2%
FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES HE (4,053) 3,452
FINANCING ACTIVITIES LB EE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEMAENRIE 18,709 5,682
Repayments of bank borrowings IRITERZER - (11,364)
Principal elements of lease payments 2 & {1~ A~ 2615 (2,156) (1,503)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REEEEL (FRA) 2
(USED IN) FINANCING BRE
ACTIVITIES 16,553 (7,185)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN RERREEEHEE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS &0 GRi/) 5B %8 35,108 (23,484)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REVIzRERIAE%HE
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR I5H 47,600 71,084
Effect of foreign exchange rates SMEFEREE) 2 &
changes 760 -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REXxzRERIAE%E
AT END OF YEAR I5H 23 83,468 47,600
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & Bf 75 2R 2% i 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

70

GENERAL INFORMATION

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the Company is Dragon
Peace Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
The ultimate controlling party is Mr. Li Haifeng, a director of the
Company.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) are manufacturing and trading of
garment products, and securities investment.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “corporate
information” to this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation
currency.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and the following
amendments to HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”), amendments and interpretations,
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”).

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Definition of a Business
Definition of Material

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRSs and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior periods and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _ZF+_F=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRSs

o s e o =

Insurance Contracts and related
Amendments*

Reference to Conceptual
Framework?®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and the
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5(2020)
Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause*

Property, plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use®

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract®

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2?2

COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018 - 2020 cycle®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
results and the financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements x5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 B ZE —_ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

3.

72

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for buildings and financial instruments that
are measured at fair values, at the end of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement
date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value for the purpose of impairment assessment,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group
categorised the fair value measurements into three levels, based on the
characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by
reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over the
investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and (i) the ability to use its power over the investee
to affect the amount of the Group’s returns.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of these
elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
of the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control of those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity
method.

Under the equity method, investments in associates and joint ventures
are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s share of the profit or loss
and changes in the other comprehensive income of the associates and
joint ventures are recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income respectively after the date of acquisition. If the Group’s share of
losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate or joint venture, which determined using the equity
method together with any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture, the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

If an associate or a joint venture uses accounting policies other
than those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, adjustments are made to make the associate’s or joint
venture’s accounting policies conform to those of the Group when
the associate’s or joint venture’s financial statements are used by the
Group in applying the equity method.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment, any
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate or
joint venture is recognised as goodwill and is included in the carrying
amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment,
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 36 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary,
the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the net investment
subsequently increases.

The Group applies HKFRS 9, including the impairment requirements, to
long-term interests in an associate or joint venture to which the equity
method is not applied and which form part of the net investment in
the investee. In applying HKFRS 9 to long-term interests, the Group
does not take into account adjustments to their carrying amount
required by HKAS 28 (i.e. adjustments to the carrying amount of long-
term interests arising from the allocation of losses of the investee or
assessment of impairment in accordance with HKAS 28).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasing
Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception
of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in
which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option) and leases of low value
assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments
as an operating expense on a straight line basis over the term of the
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are
consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The
lease payments are discounted by using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially
measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
e the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual

value guarantees;

e the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise the options; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective
interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding adjustment to
the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or
change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
revised discount rate.

e the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or
a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest
rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

e A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability
is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease incentives
received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to
dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it
is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is recognised
and measured under HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets”. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are depreciated over the
shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. The
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset
is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Investment in subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (excluding buildings) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses. Buildings are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at revaluated amount.

Revaluations of buildings are made annually at each end of reporting
period. Any increase in carrying amount of buildings as a result of
a revaluation is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of properties revaluation
reserve while any decrease resulted is recognised in profit or loss.
However, an increase is recognised in profit or loss when that
it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously
recognised in profit or loss while a decrease is recognised in
other comprehensive income when it reduces the related amount
accumulated in properties revaluation reserve.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The properties revaluation reserve in respect of an item of property,
plant and equipment stated at revaluated amount is transferred directly
to retained earnings when it is realised on retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
156. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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30

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at
initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
date to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

RA 75 R = MY 5E

EEFHEER ()
EMIA @
EHEE

THEENMESHREENRXZAHE
ERDBUHES - BREBRAR TSR
EHIBFFFEIREARNEENEHEES

go

FIEERRETMEEHBRHREBERAIRIA
AE(RERMEERRME) BEE 11
FHDE HNHERZBHENASE S/
BEEDEARARNES ARMEE G (T2
AREFARMEEEE) KA RESA
Hmike

MNP EDFNEMEEDBICRANEREE
NEHNREREBNAEREEZSTEEN
EHRI e

A BN THMEZE (RFTR)

W E THMBEMRSE  AEEER S IZEH
AT EERMEE !

s TRMBEREEBHEERAAFAERN
ZEFRANERERAESHEE U
WESHREM; &

e TRMEENGNRREFELHELR
T BERERERREMEZHE
A SRR

BEBHENASTENEREEBRRBERR
RIRETFE M AEHIRRE -



4= AN

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= 5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on
initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the
financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the
maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset
before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost and at
FVTOCI. For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“Finance income” (note 10).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements x5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 B ZE —_ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

3.

82

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to
their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the
hedge relationship.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

e Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL,
unless the Group designates an equity investment that is neither
held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a
business combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

e Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria
or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In addition,
debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or
the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses
on them on different bases. The Group has not designated any
debt instrument as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Fair value
is determined in the manner described in note 5.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “Revenue”
(note 7).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= 5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the
near term; or

e on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has evidence of
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee
contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument).

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost
and contract assets. The amount of expected credit losses is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets. The expected credit losses on these financial assets
are estimated individually based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forward-looking information at the reporting date, including
time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

R 75 R = MY 5E

EEFEHEER ()
EMIA @
2HEE (4)

BB A B m R EHEE (#
WEEUATERL NEREEDFERS :

e HWHETWEIZANANEHAAL
;8

o RUPEIAR  HAAEER-EEEN
BRERIAMESHN SN BERRE
RPACPRERFERAENT ER
L &

o HAMER (BRYUBERSONIETE
RBEME P TEMNITERBRIN ©

ST E R

AEBBEDRBHENASTENEFTIARE
BREEERER RAGEERESRES
fEsRkE BEHH URMBEP T HERDE BB
TARLREEREREE -

rEE-HEIEZERWRERGNEERN
EEMEERR ZSEMEENTARE
EEREDRBEFERBREEEBEERER
fhst MEBARENRER ERLERRT
RIS BAAA B B A0 KA R I B R RT
(BREEBREBEE WER)) FHAR-

HRFAEMYF TR  AEEFEHEER
12 A AR EEBENEERE  RIFEY
RERLOREE R REZS LM SRIAER
AP RAEEER -H2RREREERS
BESETUREN G 2ER BB HE
BURBLEENN AN EERREE L
o e

Annual Report 2020 EERS 88



42 &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements x5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

3.

34

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, relevant
think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast economic information
that relate to the Group’s operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

e internal credit rating;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

e significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of
the same debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continueq)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on debt
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, i) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term, and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt asset to have low credit risk when the asset
has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external rating is not available,
the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’ under the Group’s
current credit risk grading framework.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default
for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

e information developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements x5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 B ZE —_ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

3.

86

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
e a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data
adjusted by forward-looking information. As for the exposure at default,
for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying
amount at the reporting date.

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

RA 75 R = MY 5E

Igﬁ'ﬂﬂlﬁ (wﬁ)

2T A (48)

THEE (&)

EERENTMEE
E-EIZTEEMHZTMEEMG KR
REREBEETHZEE  EREENSBE
ERE-TMEEFEEENENEESE
BRUTE4HNTRRE

o BWITATERANERUFHEE ;

. R&E# > PISIEMNSAEAEM ;
. TETA)\E EEONESE == PN e
B ELERMAERARHER

ATESTEENEER &

. ETA}METJ?E%‘EEZ;X‘JZ
=14

thir 5 E

. ERMBREE ZERMEENTRDS
Mk o

BB R

“ﬁ%ﬁ”ﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁi&)\&%ﬁ:%ﬁiﬂﬂﬂﬂ%iﬁﬂ

TR ERIREIN AT (FINEHFHERE
%IEL)\E&E&F‘)E%’ZIS%@@W%'—IE
THEE - MENESHEEDIETAER
WEiEF TRBRHITES TEBEZMNE
‘}RT%)‘%‘E%E%Oﬁﬁf’ﬁﬁjﬁ’ﬂﬂﬁ,{uﬁl@i’:}&
B PR R

FRHFIE BRTIR 2 5t B R FE T
BRREEERNFEREBAOME ENBIR
X (MBOFNERER) REQAKRNK
BB RRENBEENFLERRE
A’ﬁﬁ#&ﬁﬂf’?ﬂﬂ?ﬁ”ﬁ)ﬁﬁﬁ%#"%JLEAEQJ

BoERmEEMS ERREAHEE
E’Jwﬂﬁﬁﬁgﬁ



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses (Continued)

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but
determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except
for assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements x5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

3.

83

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-trading, or 3)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, on the first-in, first-out
basis, and net realisable value. Costs comprise direct materials and
the related purchase costs. In the case of finished goods and work
in progress, costs also include direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of manufacturing overheads. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less all costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= 5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of losses on tangible assets and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (‘CGU”) to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or the CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised as income immediately.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.
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3.

90

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a

performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

e The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

e The Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created and enhanced; or

e The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties.

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when control of the
products has transferred, which generally coincides with the time when
shipment is made, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products. Revenue is shown net of
value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating
sales within the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= 5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits
Pension schemes and other retirement benefits

The Group joins defined contribution retirement benefits schemes in
Hong Kong for those employees who are eligible and have elected
to participate in the schemes. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the participating employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the schemes. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in independently administered
funds. In respect of the Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), the Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a specific amount for the employees in Mainland
China, pursuant to the local municipal government regulations. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect
of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the related service.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based
on performance and takes into consideration the segment result. The
Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are not relating to the acquisition, construction or

production of qualifying assets and are recognised as expenses in
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 B ZE —_ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

3.

S

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from accounting profit because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and
it further excludes items that are never taxable and deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred
tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= 5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either (i) the same taxable entity; or (i) different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the foreign exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of each reporting period. All exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the fair
value was measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

3.

94

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency (Continued)

The results and financial position of all the Group’s foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

i)

assets and liabilities for consolidated statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of
each reporting period;

income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

all of the resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Related parties

a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to
the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;
i) has significant influence over the Group; or

iy is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity

(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FETHEGE (48)

Related parties (Continued)

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

iy both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or
to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements x5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

4.

96

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the
borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in notes 25 and 27 and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically.
As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost
of capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. Based on
the recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends
and new share issues.

The Group is not subject to either internally or externally imposed
capital requirements.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. The
gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt
is calculated as total debt less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital
is calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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2020 2019

—EIEH —E-NE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TET

Cash and cash equivalents ReERIREEEEE 83,468 47,600
Less: DE

Bank borrowings IRITER (20,013) =

Lease liabilities HEaE (3,012) (5,168)

Net cash HEFE 60,443 42,432

Total capital B ARAA%E 139,252 151,305

Gearing ratio BARSMELEE N/ATRER N/AT 58 F

The Group maintained a net cash position as at 31 December 2020
and 2019, hence the gearing ratio is not applicable. There was no
change in the Group’s approach to capital management during the
year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The categories of financial assets and financial liabilities included
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the

5. BHERAMREEERRBE

(a) ERTAHE5

SAGREVBRRARZEHEER TR
BESERMEAZEBEEREN

headings in which they are included are as follows: TS
2020 2019
ZEZESF —E—hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEHEHRA S EC ERMEE
— Trade receivables and other receivables — B S EINEIE R Mt EWEIE 41,370 54,182
- Cash and bank balances —IRE MIRITA R 87,098 47,600
128,468 101,782
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBESABRIRZEHMEE
— Listed equity securities at FVTPL —BAAEFABRIEZ
RS 1,808 2,177
— Financial derivatives at FVTPL — B AREFAEBRIEZ
ERTTET AR 646 -
2,454 2,177
130,922 103,959
2020 2019
—ECEH —E—hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#Ex FET
Financial liabilities EMAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEHR A EZ EREE
— Trade and other payables — B RHEMENRIE 69,933 60,166
- Bank borrowings —IRITER 20,013 =
89,946 60,166
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

93

POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, cash and bank balances, listed
equity securities at FVTPL, financial derivatives at FVTPL, trade
and other payables and bank borrowings. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
capital expenditure and operations. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include
credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk and price risk). The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at banks,
bank deposits and trade and other receivables. Management has
a credit policy in place and the exposure to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

Cash at banks and bank deposits are placed with licensed
financial institutions with high credit ratings. The Group monitors
the exposure to each single financial institution.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group monitors
closely the economic environment and where appropriate, takes
actions to limit its exposure to customers that are severely
impacted.

Credit checks are part of the normal operating process and
stringent monitoring procedures are in place to deal with overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amounts
of trade and other debtors at the end of each reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance. The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. MERAKREBEERBE (B)
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) MIRAMEEBZEREE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Loss allowances for trade receivables are based on
management’s estimate of the expected credit losses to be
incurred, which involved the estimate of probability of default, loss
given default and forward looking adjustments.

Management estimated these parameters by taking into account
the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables,
customers’ repayment history and customers’ financial position
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions.

In the Group’s trade receivable balance as at 31 December 2020,
99% (2019: 99%) of the total trade receivables is due from the
Group’s largest customer. There are no other customers who
represent more than 5% of the total trade receivable balance as
at the end of the reporting periods. The credit risk is limited due
to long-established relationship and good credit worthiness for the
largest customer.

For other receivables, the Group has assessed whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
If there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than
12-month ECL.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following
indicators are incorporated:

e internal credit rating

e actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations

e actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. MERAKREBEERBE (B)

POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MBRAMREIEBEREE (&)
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) =B R ()
e significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments e [ERANEMERTAEZEERR

of the borrower AIEEE N

e significant changes in the expected performance and e BRANEHEERTAZLEEKR
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the payment B BREGRARETEENMGR
status of borrowers in the Group and changes in the RN ERERAR S EENE
operating results of the borrower. 15o

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has maintained the
Group’s credit risk grading to categorise exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is
drawn from the Group’s own trading records to rate its customers
and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of
its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterparties.

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the
following categories:

AERIMEGEERE  ZEBE#FAE
B EER B LURBEQRRE
ERREHRODE - FEFREL RS
RLUFHEERE R REMEFZAZEER
AENRTZik  AEBEEBHERAT
25 2 AR REET R MAAERR S
FEBERB D BN R 5 Z [ o

AEEBAMMNEERBTRERSEN
TNEER

Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
E<:p 1 i HBREREEGENESE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has not 12-month ECL
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and
that are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)
B# HRENRREESNEMERILCREERRAEESEN B 128 BHEEHE
RELEERENEHMEE BAE—BE)
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant increase in Lifetime ECL —
credit risk since initial recognition but that are not credit impaired not credit impaired
(refer to as Stage 2)
A HXBBRERUREERREBEIEN L RBEEEEHENE 2HRREEEE-LEGE
RMEE BRE MR VEAE]
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or more Lifetime ECL —
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash credit impaired
flows of that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)
eI BERL—HALEHZEENGSARRERBERAFANEEN 2BEMREEFE-EBEER
EHE EREERTEAEEERE BRE=ZKR) =l
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is written off
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
6! BEERBRA BHFABRNERENHYHFRE MAEETRBEIR MHSLHE

B R Al 5=
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

5. BHERAREEBERREE (&)

M EREREBIRREBER (8)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(b)

(Continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity level to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and bank balances for its daily operation and investment
purposes.

Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to meet
liabilities as they fall due, and it results from amount and maturity
mismatches of assets and liabilities.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient
bank balances.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end

THEZEE

FEBZHERAEREEERAAAERM
HESKT UEFRRHEEBRERE
BNRE BN RIRITAE RS

MBETRARARELESETUZN
RNz ERZAR MEREER
BRZMERII B R

BERDETRAREERKREETESN
IRITHEBR

%ES%EZIS%@?ETEE%%Q%%E’*%E%
HRERZRGANTEIRE FGRATE
E‘JHH EIE%EC%’JE?FH&EEEEQME (&2
ERABLAEMNEY (HF8) RIEHRSH
SEBZRITMNEFEZANEMR) &

of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be AEBESNZREHBR
required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To ZREEFERANEREM M ER

the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted ERFHFE BRIV EEERE R
amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the SRR A R AR 4R o
reporting period.
2020
kS 3- 3
Total More
contractual Within than 1 year
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or but less than
amount cash flow on demand 5 years
EHIFERLNIR R—FR e —&
REE REREHEE WIRER ERAEERA
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET F#ET F#ET F#&T
Trade and other payables 85 K M ER A 69,933 69,933 69,933 -
Bank borrowings BITEMR 20,013 20,013 20,013 -
89,946 89,946 89,946 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 3,012 3,095 2,427 668
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA S ¥R R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & ZE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

“ECEF+_B=+—HILEE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

5. BHERAREEBERREE (&)

(b) MIEAMEEBZEREE (&)

T EZ A ()

2019

—BAE
Total More
contractual Within than 1 year
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or but less than
amount cash flow on demand 5 years
FEALIR R—FR Bid—F
REE REeEREMR% FIREK EBREER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHB7T FHIT FHB7T FHT
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMENRIE 60,166 60,166 60,166 =
Lease liabilities HESE 5,168 5,419 2,129 3,290

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “within 1 year or on demand” time band in the
above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank borrowings
amounted to HK$20,013,000 (2019: nil). Taking into account
the Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company
do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise
their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
directors of the Company believe that such bank borrowings will
be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal
and interest cash outflows will amount to HK$20,043,000 (2019:
nil). As at 31 December 2020, the principal and interest cash
outflows due within one year is HK$20,043,000 (2019: nil).

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate pledged bank deposits, bank borrowings and lease
liabilities. The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary action when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
employees’ loan advances, bank deposits and bank balances.

1 02 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

BEEREBREBERRZBTERIIA
EFHBBEAON T —FAIRER 2

BEEEN RS -_EF+-_B=+—
B ZERTERKRFTRAZRER

20,013,000 (ZTTE—NF 1 T) oK
SRAEBZHMBRT AATESR
ARITARUETEERNBEEEKRIL
ZER - ANBDEERAERIETER
BRBERBGEMS B EEEDN
BE-ERF A&k EEREERE
2fE20, 043 0008 (ZE—HE :
L) RIEZEFEF+ZH=+—H R
A ﬁﬂzx@&%u%iﬁﬁ/mtﬂgﬁj
20,043,00087C (CE—HE : F) o

Ve 3

HAIEH A REE R R IRTER
RITERKEEEENAREN XA
% o 7 £ [ IR B 0 A R R PR o 2R
mEEBEENXRARKFNARE
BREE R = B IR 2 8 HL i R I ©

AEREHEEEERERN  RITEMR
RIRITREFA BN REN XA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. MERAKREBEERBE (B)
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) MIRAMEEBZEREE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

It does not expose the Group to material cash flow interest rate
risk as the balance of employees’ loan advances as at year end
is not significant, and therefore no sensitivity analysis has been
prepared.

Management does not anticipate significant impact on interest-
bearing assets resulted from the changes in interest rates because
the interest rates at bank deposits are not expected to change
significantly.

The Group’s bank borrowings do not use floating interest rate.
Foreign currency risk

5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates.

Several subsidiaries of the Company have sales and
subcontracting arrangement transacted in United States dollar
(“US$”). In addition, several subsidiaries of the Company have US$
bank balances. It does not expose the Group to material foreign
currency risk as HK$, the functional currency of the relevant group
entities, is pegged to US$, and therefore no sensitivity analysis has
been prepared for US$ against HKS$.

In addition, the Group has bank borrowings denominated in EUR
which also expose the Group to foreign currency risk. If a 5%
increase/decrease in EUR against Renminbi (“RMB”) (the functional
currency of the relevant group entity as borrower) and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s loss after tax for the
year would increase/decrease by approximately HK$751,000
(2019: nil).

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. The Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and uses
derivative financial instruments (foreign currency forward contracts)
to hedge risk arising from fluctuations in foreign currency change
rates should the need arise. If a 5% increase/decrease in US$
against the RMB and Euro (“EUR”) and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s loss after tax for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$1,608,000 (2019: nil).

FIFEmbE (&)

HREREEENERFEALAEKN
HASHAEBERERRERBAX
JR\ Bz > A UL X R AR S BRRL A 0 A ©

EREREAEEB T RN REEE
EEARE DA RTERNFIEAE
BTG E AR

AEENRTERLECRTBH X
S i e

5%NHAEBERABNB2BMIMER
BERA Y SERE LT AR EEE
HONEER AR AR (o

ERBETWEBABEAENUET (T
7ol) RENFER DB LZHE b5 &
ABETHEBRBYER ZTIRITERR
MR ABTHARTHE EAEGR4AEH
EEREARIME R > FH It ¥ &t E T (18
FEEBERENINESR) HETRER
RRE D o

UEoh REEBER LT EMNIRITE
TR0 TR 7 B [ T Y S0 S ELRR o fis BR 7T
HARE TARK) (ERMEREREE
RIERANINBEG L) L7+ FrE5%Mm
FIEEMEERETE AEBMNEE
PR R RS IRA I N, R/ 49751,0007 7T
EE-—NE T

25 £ B B A 36 4 AF ] S B R o A
EEEEHIERBRERTESRT
B UMNEEHREL) SR NEERTE E
AR (HER) -METHARER
Bt (TBR7T.) E7t/ FRE5%mEr A &
HEEBRETE REENEERRE
5B 18 0, /L 491,608,000 75 (Z
T—NEF)eo
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from listed equity
securities classified as financial assets at FVTPL (see note 21).
These investments are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period with reference to the quoted price. Management
monitors this exposure and takes appropriate actions when it is
required.

If price in respect of listed equity securities had been 10% (2019:
10%) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2020
would decrease/increase by HK$181,000 (2019: post-tax loss for
the year would decrease/increase by HK$218,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to quoted price on its listed
equity securities.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the
reasonably possible changes in price had occurred as at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to
price risk for the financial instruments in existence at that date
and that all other variables remain constant. The stated changes
represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible
changes in price over the period until the end of the next reporting
period.

1 04 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

RA 75 R = MY 5E

5. BHERAREEBERREE (&)

(b) MIEAMEEBZEREE (&)

1E1& Bz

FAEERHREEDESRANERA
Bmlikz EHRAB S EBREHER
(RfsE21) - ZERESEREERN
BREPVRZANEFE-BEEEEER
HER KRR NEERDEZ T8

W LR AZHZEE LA, THE10%
(ZE—H%F 1 10%) M EMES4
BAg REERBE_ T _ZF+_
B=+—HIEEEZRREBEER R
b /1811181,00058 7T (ZE—HE : &
BRI B ES B R 18 0218,00058
70 W FEERRAEBRE EHRA
B2 IREFTEE Z RS

FRERBEDRRERGENEZSHTE
RRERTEREERBRARZBEE
ZEMTEZERERNRIEAEMES
MR REMT UEE - Rt 2 815 818
EBHEEIEEHEE MERSHATE
Ry 2 HARIEBAR Z (&5t o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _ZF+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

Fair value hierarchy and assets measured at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments measured at the end of each reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.

(c)

mE M BRERME

5. BHERAREEBERREE (&)

REEMBRRAREIZAAEHE

RAEERRIEAA BN ERE

TRETAEBMN SRS HTHEFRE
EUHEEABNESRIAANE AHF
AREREBYHFREENHIZEA
AEFEBIMREZARE=ZREBFR
EITDME-

Fair value at
31 December Fair value measurement as at
2020 31 December 2020 categorised into
RIE-EF
+=B=+—H WZEZEF+-A=+—HZ
ZARME AREHENHUTER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Bk B B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FTERT FTERT FERT
Recurring fair value measurement {8 E M AR EHE
Assets: BE .
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREFABREZ
Listed equity securities FHRAES 1,808 1,808 - -
Financial derivatives ETRITETAR 646 - 646 -
2,454 1,808 646 -
Fair value at
31 December Fair value measurement as at
2019 31 December 2019 categorised into
A ZE—NEF
+-B=+—H RIB—NE+ZB=+—HZ
ZRME NAEFERTAUATER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B—1ik B B=1R
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Recurring fair value measurement &4 AR EE
Assets: BE
Financial assets at FVTPL BARETAEBRRZ
Listed equity securities FHRAES 2,177 2177 - -
2177 2177 - -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2.

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than fair
value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other financial instruments
carried at amortised cost are not materially different from their fair
value as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Estimation of fair values
The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value

measurements of each financial instrument on a recurring basis
are set out below:

Fair value as at

ARE
Financial Fair value
Instruments hierarchy 31/12/2020
kS22 3
efTE RRAEER +=B=+—H

RA 75 R = MY 5E

5. BHERAREEBERREE (&)

() REEMBRRREIDZAAMENE

(&)

REE_ZE_TFEK_ZFT—NEFE+_H
—t+—HIESEERTEE—HRANEZ
Mz ER-

EHEEILEGASEIFR
R-IEBE_EER_T-—AE+_HR
=t+—H ' xEEZEMEMTARE
BEXHEHERATER BHARBLES
RERo

1Bt AR E
SHEEMTERECEMHEEN R AEE

EFRANGES ZRBAEHIW
T

Valuation technique

31/12/2019 and key inputs
—E-hE
+ZA=+—0 (HEFERAREARE

Listed equity securities Level 1 HK$1,808,000

A S F— 1,808,00038 7T
Financial derivatives Level 2 HK$646,000
— foreign currency
forward contracts
EMITETR BETWR 646,00078 7T

SMEBEA S

1 06 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

HK$2,177,000 Quoted bid prices in an active

market

2,177,000 75 TR IZ R IRE

N/A The present value of future cash
flows based on the forward
exchange rates taking into
account the credit risk of
counterparty

FEA FAREFAHEERRILN

BEHEXRGFERNRKRIRE
meRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

6.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made in
the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period
that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of trade receivables

The impairment provisions for trade receivables are based on
assumptions about ECL. Loss allowances for trade receivables are
based on management’s estimate of the expected credit losses to
be incurred, which involved the estimate of probability of default, loss
given default and forward looking adjustments.

Management estimated these parameters by taking into account the
credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables, customers’
repayment history and customers’ financial position and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general economic conditions.

Changes in these assumptions and estimates could materially affect
the result of the assessment and it may be necessary to make
additional impairment charge to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. At 31 December 2020,
the carrying amount of trade receivables is HK$35,920,000 (2019:
HK$47,810,000). At 31 December 2020, impairment loss of trade
receivables is nil (2019: nil).

R 75 R = MY 5E

S FRERRZEERIE

TERAAEBE NSNS 5t BRE > &
ANEEFAHGEMBZRR RN 2RI E
B E ~ B 1R~ Wi Ko i) S/ He 4 B~ {51 e
B - ZF st R RRDEIRBELR
REAR/BREMEARIFH - BRERT
BEBE RN ZE Mo

IEEGE RARBRREFER - EE5HR
RHESTERBERETINNRE RENZ
MR BB B E AR A
EREHIEST R H R HARE T -

st FREERRZ EERR

TXBRRERRBERRNEZBRRRE
fhfil 5T E R R EE IR - 5 K FJ fEX
NT—EVBREEEERARREEREX
SR E AR o

B 5 EWRIARE

BERKRARENRERFEHENBRERE
EBRENERR -BZRURIEREREDE
REBEEHREENRMEEEENERE
flist > B RENM IR ENBRRKLAE
MR -

EEBEDLEAKREEGREER AREFE
WRIERERES - F R NEREE R E A Y
BRI B IR B e TR — AR A B AR A 2 5T
mitstZEAR

ZERBR RGNS S HTEERE
SEAFERRBEHFGEGREMEE
W RMEL IR ERN R - RS T F
+ZB=+—H > EZEKRREREELLY
35,920,000/ 75 (ZZE— .4 : 47,810,000
7T  MIEBE_EFE+_A=+—H B5E
WRIEBNREGEAS (CE—hE  T) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

6.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Provision for inventories

The management of the Group reviews an ageing analysis at the end
of each reporting period and makes provision for obsolete and slow-
moving items identified. The management estimates the net realisable
value for such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice prices
and current market conditions. As at 31 December 2020, the carrying
amount of inventories was approximately HK$39,305,000 (2019:
HK$45,356,000). During the year ended 31 December 2020, provision
for inventories of HK$597,000 (2019: nil) has been recognised and
included in cost of sales.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment (other than buildings carried at revalued
amount) and right-of-use assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount.
Management determined the recoverable amount of the CGU to
which these assets belong based on the higher of the estimate of the
value-in-use and the fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to generate from the CGU and an appropriate discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of the future cash flows.
In addition, the Group engaged an independent valuer to perform the
valuation on the land use rights classified under right-of-use assets.
Based on the estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU, the
management determined that no impairment of these property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets is required. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, an impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets were HK$62,737,000 and
HK$12,123,000 (2019: HK$65,655,000 and HK$14,129,000)
respectively.

1 08 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

RA 75 R = MY 5E

6.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

6.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the Company
review the estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment with
finite useful life. The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
with finite useful life as at 31 December 2020 is HK$62,737,000 (31
December 2019: HK$65,655,000). The estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of properties, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The management of the
Group will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives. Technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written-off or written-
down. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.

Buildings in properties, plant and equipment carried at valuation

Buildings in properties, plant and equipment are revalued at the end
of the reporting period on depreciated replacement cost basis based
on valuations performed by an independent professional valuer. These
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results. At 31
December 2020, the carrying amount of properties measured at fair
value was approximately HK$51,905,000 (2019: HK$54,319,000)
and fair value gain for the year then ended was approximately
HK$2,980,000 (2019: fair value gain HK$5,926,000). The significant
methods and assumptions used by valuers in estimating the fair value
of properties are set out in note 17.

Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of
the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the future.
In cases where the actual future profits generated are greater than
expected, a material recognition of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for period in which such a
recognition takes place.

R 75 R = MY 5E

6.
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BEHZYE BMERREGENESERE
H-R-_E_EFE+_A=+—HEBRTE
FREHVE BERKBHNEREES
62,737,000 T (ZE—NF+_B=1+—
H : 65,655,000/ 70) o tEIEG TR EE
ERARBMZYE BERSZEZERAFE
REHZBFLERMEL AEEEEEF
R E R E /D RB A 2 Gt S EBRF I i
EE RS o B SR MO B i _E PR EE S JE SR BRI
MEBEERHENEE BRCBEEHN
gRGH A ERAFREM TG

ME - BERREPREBETIRZIEF

ME BERREBEPHEFTHRREHRBE
VEEGEMBITEEERAS 22 EHESE
o ZEHEEERETRR HSRNR TR
ERERAELEEREREAAB R _E
—EFE+ZA=+—8" iﬁ@ﬁ:fﬁ.ﬁgﬁ’%
EWERE(EXN 251,905,000/ 75 (ZF—
E.M&g%@&ﬂ&&i&ﬁtﬁEMQ
AEWEL A2,980,0008 T (ZB—HE !
NI E W EES,926,00058 70) © f (& B 7 & 5t
MENRBERFERNER S ERREZHL
5H17.

PRSI BB ERIE

FEBRGMEBRPEKREZFRFR A
RARFEFN R AR B EpL IR BB
HEIERIAEE - SIEIENEEETE
R EBEAE BRI EHN WA RAIHAAZ
FESRIRER S Z A E © 5 B R AR OEF &
ERNTRH BRI EEHIELERIEEEN
EAERD ZEEIBNELERBIN BT
HEED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements x5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

7.

RA 75 R = MY 5E

REVENUE 7. Wi
Revenue recognised during the year is as follows: RERERZIWENT !
2020 2019
—E-EF —S—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHBT
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHNz N
Revenue from garment manufacturing and trading”: RS &R E 5 2 Ww*:
Sale of garment products $HE B E S 290,410 331,167
Sale of scrap materials HEBEEYE 350 595
290,760 331,762
Revenue from other sources Hfth 2k 5 2 W 25
Securities investment: BHEEE
Fair value loss on equity investment at FVTPL BAnBESTAER
ﬁmﬁiﬁé@ﬁ@ P&E 18 (369) (160)
Dividend income from listed equity securities B LEmRAFSZKREKRA 124 120
(245) (40)
290,515 331,722

Revenue from garment manufacturing and trading is recognised at a point in time.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations

As at 31 December 2020, there is no performance obligation that is
unsatisfied (2019: nil).

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Information reported to the board of directors, being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on operation nature,
specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are as follows:

1. Garment manufacturing and trading
2. Securities investment

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of adjusted operating results. This measurement
basis represented operating loss excluding material gain or loss which
is capital in nature or of non-recurring nature such as impairment.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.

1 1 O Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

PRARBGE e B 5 2 Wi S A ey ) B R BT o

NEERFEENEEZXZER

R_E_ZEF+_H=+—H > BE|KETT
ZBHNEE CE—NE |-

SEpEH

MEEE AEZBEERKRE (TEEER
BE)) EREDPEERKRTIHIHRTZ
BRERRLEEEE LHZ  AEENT
BEDBUWT :

1. RKRAEERES
2. BHERE

TEEERRERBERABEERBEEET
MEEDB 2 REF - ILFFEEEARKEERS
BEROEBEAMERFFREEREZERK
m 1R (GR(E) °

RS DBl 2 & 5t R B MY EESPR A 2 A &
B & 5t BCRAER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _ZF+_F=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued) 8. SEEN (&)
Segment revenues and results 7 EB U T R 4R
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by UTAZAREESEDIHEAERZ NE K
reportable operating segments. HEBEZ Do
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE_Z-_EHE+-A=1+—HLEE
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment Total
IR E R
g5 EERE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT F#ET F#ET
REVENUES 67
Reportable segment revenue-external A ¥R & 9 UK — I 36 290,760 (245) 290,515
Reportable segment loss AIEREDEEE (650) (5,117) (5,767)
Unallocated other income and gains RO 2 MK A KU & 1,322
Corporate administrative expenses PETHRAZ (10,661)
Finance expense MEMZ (168)
Loss before tax PRI ATES 18 (15,274)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA S ¥R R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued) 8. PEEHE (B

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

53 BB UG = Re F 4R (4R)

BHE_Z-AF+A=1+—HLEFE

Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment Total
R B IS R
B0 BHREDE #ast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET TET
REVENUES &7
Reportable segment revenue-external  BI#R& D 2B U — 9MER 331,762 (40) 331,722
Reportable segment loss RS0 EEEIE (1,535) (5,644) (7,179)
Unallocated other income and gains ROz EMERA & & 113
Corporate administrative expenses PETHAX (11,202)
Reversal of impairment loss on loans to  FiiE ¥ —fHE ¥ >
an associate BRURERBEREE 3,462
Finance income B WA 139
Finance expense RERE (158)
Loss before tax BRF5 AR5 18 (14,825)

Segment loss represents the loss from each segment without allocation
of corporate administrative expenses, reversal of impairment loss on
loans to an associate, certain other income and gains, certain finance
income and certain finance expense. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the CODM considered
that certain finance income, finance expenses and other income and
gain were related to the garment manufacturing and trading segment.
Hence, the measurement of segment result has been changed and
the comparative figures have also been represented to conform with
current year’s presentation.

1 1 2 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

DEBERER DMAEEBRLED b
THREZ ET—BEEEEEZERUNE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _ZF+_F=+—HILFE

8.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued) 8.

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is
presented based on the geographical location of the customers.
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented based
on the geographical location of the assets.

AEEM (8)
Hid E
ARMAEERANBELNREERES

FrRREMZS - AT EBIIFRBEENE
FHEBREEPREMES] -

Revenues from

external customers Non-current assets*
SMERE B & JERENE E

2020 2019 2020 2019
ZEIEE "FhEFE CZEBIEFE —FNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHB7T F#ET FET
USA ES 169,304 190,600 - -
Mainland China HA B A B 258 - 66,804 68,777
Europe B 85,440 95,812 - =
Hong Kong 58 13,570 14,215 8,056 11,007
Other regions Hihih@ 21,943 31,095 - =
290,515 331,722 74,860 79,784

Non-current assets excluded financial instruments.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by reportable
operating segments.

FRBEENIERRMTRA

UTRREAREE2ENMHEERZEEL
DA

2020 2019
—ECEH —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
ASSETS BE

Garment manufacturing and trading RN EREZDIHEE
segment assets 223,375 190,507
Securities investment segment assets BHEREDHEE 3,634 4,151
Unallocated corporate assets APEABEE 19,247 35,282
Consolidated total assets LEMEE 246,256 229,940
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & Bf #5 3Rk 2% M =%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 B ZE —_ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

AEEF (&)

i F Rl (48)
MERDBREENDBEOEERMS

8. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued) 8.
Geographical information (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

e All assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain o ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ@ﬂi EESLEETY
property, plant and equipment, certain right-of-use assets, cash = BERLE-ETEAREE &
and bank balances managed on central basis, and head office *fizﬁ%&fﬁﬁmﬁ%uﬁ AMERE
assets. EEBRIN o

Segment liabilities are measured in the same way as in the

DESR B 5t BRI S M B RR P A5

consolidated financial statements. These liabilities are allocated based EHFAER ZEEBERES IS EELETT
on the operations of the segments. DBCe
Other segment information Hith 53 2BE R
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment Unallocated Total
For the year ended HE-ZE-ZTH
31 December 2020 +ZA=+—HIEFE HERRERES EHRE RS a5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FER FER FER
Amounts included in the measure of 3 tESEPLER AN
segment results: TR
Finance income BEUWA 53 - - 53
Finance costs BE R A (855) - (168) (1,023)
Other income HkA 1,452 330 1,322 3,104
Depreciation of property, ME-BERSEZITE
plant and equipment (6,877) (69) (630) (7,576)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRHEBEZITE (239) - (2,224) (2,463)
Addition to property, ME-BERREZRE
plant and equipment 750 27 - 777
Provision of inventories FEEE (597) - - (597)
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment Unallocated Total
For the year ended BHE_Z—h&E
31 December 2019 +ZA=1+—HIEFE HKRRUEKRES BHRE Ealiy HaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Amounts included in the measure of 3 EDIPEERFHAN
segment results: TIE
Finance income BEWA 113 - 139 252
Finance costs MEMAE (1,038) = (158) (1,196)
Other income HA A 170 = 113 283
Depreciation of property, ME - BERRKREZITE
plant and equipment (6,360) (266) (659) (7,285)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBEZINE (242) = (1,445) (1,687)
Addition to property, ME -BERREZRE
plant and equipment 358 88 41 432
Addition to right-of-use assets FHEEEEZRE - - 6,671 6,671

1 1 4 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued) 8. 7EPEH (&)
Information about major customers EREEERZEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year contributing over RiBEEEHARERBEKRE SRMBIB10%
10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: BEEW=WT -
2020 2019
—ECEH ZE—NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Customer A! ZRAA 288,589 327,406
1 Revenue from garment manufacturing and trading. L PRI B IS B B2 5 W o
9. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 9. HthUqA RUrz=
2020 2019
—ECEHE ZE—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx FET
Gains on disposal of properties, HEME BEKRKEZ Wm
plant and equipment 14 166
Government subsidies' BT 4 B 970 35
Interest income from structured deposits ERMEERA B WA 244 =
Consultancy fee? B s &2 600 -
Fair value gain on financial derivatives at FVTPL BRADESFTABRIRZ
ERMITETEZ AR ERWT 646 -
Insurance claim R R 288 -
Others HAth 342 82
3,104 283
1 During the year 31 December 2020, the Group recognised government grants of ! BE_Z_EF+_A=+—HLEE FEEHHA
HK$970,000 in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies, of which an amount of 2L 5 A 975 75 4 A 47 R B 5 BURT 481 B9 70,0008 7T 2
HK$868,000 is related to Employment Support Scheme provided by the Government H R %8868,0007% 7t £ & B 5 51 1T B @ BUF 7 &
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under the Anti-Epidemic Fund. There ESEETRENRMEISEER - ZEWNBAS
are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts of those LT Y 47 B 3 9 B 795 10 SR AR AR AR 1 B Lt S AR EB IE o
subsidiaries

8 HE_Z_THE+_HA=+—HILFE FE@mRH
2 During the year 31 December 2020, the Group provided consultancy service related to HER R EEREERM AR
garment manufacturing business operation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA S ¥R R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

10. FINANCE EXPENSE, NET 10. MBI B8
2020 2019
—E-EHF “E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FBT
Interest income on short-term bank deposit FRHAIRTTIERZFIE WA 53 153
Interest income on loans to an associate EXRT—EHEEEZFBURA - 99
Total finance income MEBE WA 53 252
Interest expense on borrowings BRZAERZ (526) (749)
Interest expense on employee’s loan advances BEERBARZAMERZ (329) (289)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaGZMNERE (168) (158)
Total finance expense MBS (1,023) (1,196)
Finance expense, net MBS FEE (970) (944)
11. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 11. BRIRAIES IR
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging: FRIAIESIE E R THRIE !
2020 2019
—E-EF “E—AF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHBT
Auditor’s remuneration Z S EMEN = 927 1,521
Depreciation on: e -
— Property, plant and equipment —ME--BERRE 7,576 7,285
- Right-of-use assets —EHEEEE 2,463 1,687
10,039 8,972
Employee benefits expenses EBERMNMZ (BEESINE)
(including directors’ emoluments)
— Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind —¥® R REYEHN 65,625 76,213
— Contributions to retirement benefits schemes —BREH 5B 1,809 5,595
Total staff costs BT R AR4E%E 67,434 81,808
Exchange loss, net PER B8 2R 522 -
Cost of inventories recognised in profit or loss EEHmRPEBZFERA
(including provision for inventories) (BIEEEEE) 174,422 223,504
Subcontracting and processing charges SERNIER 69,069 63,346
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _ZF+_F=+—HILFE

12.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

Z'iﬂ P
7 N = |

R 75 R = MY 5E

1R.EFRERSITHASHME

EMOLUMENTS
Details of directors’ emoluments of the Group are as follows: AEMEBEEMEFHBAOT -
2020
b ok 33
Employer’s
Salaries contribution
and other to the MPF
Fees benefits Bonus scheme Total
R b
ok HitEH ®E EEMR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FERT FTERr FERT FTERT
Executive directors: HiTES:
Mr. Li Haifeng FEREE 120 1,830 - 18 1,968
Mr. Wang Ke IREE 260 520 - 18 798
Independent non-executive BiEniTES:
directors:
Mr. Wang Shiming FittRLE
(appointed on 6 June 2020) R-T-Z=
NASNHEZRD 68 - - - 68
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu il S 240 - - - 240
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RIRELE 120 - - - 120
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi BESZL
(resigned on 6 June 2020) MZZ-Z&
VA= :3:) 52 - - - 52
860 2,350 - 36 3,246
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4x & Bt 73 3R R MY 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

12.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES 12.EEREEITHASME @

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

2019
—E-NF
Employer’s
Salaries contribution
and other to the MPF
Fees benefits Bonus scheme Total
& RS A
wE Ht @7 & BEHER 1z
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThET FTER ThET ThET TAET
Executive directors: HTES.
Mr. Li Haifeng FEALE 120 1,830 - 18 1,968
Mr. Wang Ke TRgE 260 520 - 18 798
Non-executive director: FRITES:
Mr. Lee Sheng Kuang, James Z#it&k4E
(Ceased appointment on MZZ—N&
1 April 2019) WA —B&LERE) 60 - - - 60
Independent non-executive BIFHITES:
directors:
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu il i 240 - - - 240
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RIRERLE 120 - - - 120
Ms. Zheng Xianzhi BESL+ 120 - - - 120
920 2,350 - 36 3,306
Notes: P E -

Fees represent emoluments of directors paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as

a director, whether of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings.

Mr. Li Haifeng is also the chief executive officer of the Company and his emoluments disclosed

above include those for services rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

None of the directors and chief executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments paid
by the Group during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. No emoluments were
paid or payable by the Group to any directors and chief executive as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of the office during the years ended 31

December 2020 and 2019.

1 1 8 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements % &

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

13. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals in the Company include two (2019:
two) executive directors for the year ended 31 December 2020, details
of whose emoluments have been disclosed in note 12 above.

The details of the emoluments for the year of remaining three (2019:
three) highest paid individuals who are neither director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

R 75 R = MY 5E

13. EEM=E

BHE_Z_ZHE+_HA=+—HIEE &
NBDRLLESHFINALTEEmE (CZTE—H
F M) BOTES EMSEHBR EXHE
121988 o

BT=%CZ-NF: =% &AL
EEFARBDEFTHRESTHAR) RE
RZMEFBEWT ¢

2020 2019
—EZEH —E—hE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TET
Salaries and other benefits e e HhEF) 2,532 2,887
Retirement benefit scheme contribution BIREF) 5B HRR 54 54
2,586 2,941
Their emoluments were within the following bands: e EwT
2020 2019
—ECEH —E—hE
No. of No. of
employee employee
EEAH BE A
HK$ nil to HK$1,000,000 21,000,000 7T 2 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 £ 1,500,00078 7T 1 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA S ¥R R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14. FRISHRAX

Group entities which are either registered or incorporated in Hong Kong
are subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax. Under the two tiered profits tax
rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25% and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in those places in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof. In general, the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the Mainland
China (“PRC”) are subject to the Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as the
Group did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

No provision for Enterprise Income Tax of the PRC has been made as
the Group did not have any assessable profits subject to tax in the
PRC for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income is as follows:

REBEL ML 2 & BB AWM
BERANNBR -BEMRFINSREFNE > &
BEREBEBREANE2,000,000% 70iaE R 12
8.25%RI R KR > MiB#E2,000,00078 7T HY
5 ) 1216.5 % BI B R IR o ST & Wy 4R
MRRHNENERBRZHN S ERBIZ16.5%
R — IR o

BREBBIINZ ERIREF ZMIB Tk
EHEEMBME 2 RTRIREBMIRT
IE RENEAGE —RMmE > AEER
FREARE (TR ) &8 2 M8 A B ZER25%
ZMRBMEEPISH

HRAEERBE_S_EER_ZT—NEF
T A=+ —HLEFEEEBLEEMRER
M F o RUL I L & B RIS IRIFH BEH -

HARAEERBE_SE_ZEFR_T—NF
TZA=T—HLEFEFEPEEEER
A o BRI I R B B 1R FE AT AT AR 1 3
e

FEERBERXBGRSEa REMEEBA
KAGRATBEZ HERWT ¢

2020 2019

—EZEH —ES—NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx TET

Loss before taxation PR AR5 18 (15,274) (14,825)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable MATEER #EZEMBERARE

in the respective jurisdictions AEZRIE (1,997) (3,443)

Tax effect of income not taxable AR A Z RIEFZE (163) (645)

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible AAHRESE 2 REEE 3,060 1,458

Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERRIEBEEZRBEEE 2,196 3,747

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously MBI RERRIEFEZ
unrecognised RIBERE (3,096) (1,117)
Tax expenses for the year FEREBEMAZ - =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE M BRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

15. LOSS PER SHARE

16.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based on the

following data:

15. SRR E518

EREAREEHEEIDRE NI EESE !

2020 2019
ZEZES “E—hHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Group AEEEEFR ABGSE (15,274) (14,825)
Number Number
of shares of shares
BiHn&8E R EE
’000 000
Thg T B
Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the F{EstEERE A& # EBERN
purpose of basic and diluted loss per share LiER 2 METHE 818,042 818,042

The number of shares for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per
share is the same as the Group has no potential ordinary shares in both

years.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 December
2020, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2019: nil).

16. 1282

HRAEEMEFENEEEEER &
STESRENREEHEENROBEER-

REBE_E_EF+_HA=1+—BHLEFER
TWHEKASHEZETARE  BERSHRMU

RIFAREZEANRE CE-—NEH|) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4x & Bt 73 3R R MY 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17.ME -BERSE
Furniture,
office
equipment,
Leasehold Plant and vessel and
Buildings  improvements machinery  motor vehicles Total
Hi-MAZE
B
i HE%E BERKS RiSE Eoh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TERT TR
At 1 January 2019 RZB-nE—HA—H
Cost or valuation AR E 53,864 26,742 20,098 36,063 136,767
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZMERAE - (23,938) (19,349) (27,773) (71,060)
Carrying value REE 53,864 2,804 749 8,280 65,697
Year ended 31 December 2019 HEZZ-—NE
+ZB=+—HItFE
Opening net book amount HORESE 53,864 2,804 749 8,280 65,697
Additions RE 19 14 - 399 432
Disposals HE = = = (4 (4)
Depreciation & (5,490) (219) (87) (1,539) (7,285)
Currency translation differences ERES = 621 17 151 889
Revaluation surplus BB 5,926 - - - 5,926
Carrying value REE 54,319 3,220 829 1,287 65,655
At 31 December 2019 RIB-—hE+ZA=1+—H
Cost or valuation MAZ A E 54,319 26,756 20,098 35,714 136,887
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZMERAE - (23,536) (19,269) (28,427) (71,232)
Carrying value REE 54,319 3,220 829 7,287 65,655
Year ended 31 December 2020 HEZZ-ZH
+ZB=+—HItFE
Opening net book amount BREFE 54,319 3,220 829 7,287 65,655
Additions HE - 38 29 710 7
Disposals HE - - - 43) (43)
Depreciation & (6,089) (29) (46) (1,418) (7,576)
Currency translation differences ERER 689 151 39 65 944
Revaluation surplus SR 2,980 = = = 2,980
Carrying value REE 51,905 3,380 851 6,601 62,737
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZE+-FE=1—H
Cost or valuation MAZ G E 51,906 28,005 21,086 36,979 137,975
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZHMERAE = (24,625) (20,235) (30,378) (75,238)
Carrying value REE 51,906 3,380 851 6,601 62,737
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _ZF+_F=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 17. 9% - BER=E (@)

Notes

P
i) The Group's buildings comprise: i) REBZIEFEIE
2020 2019
ZE-EHF —E—hE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Buildings in PRC RHPEZEF 51,905 54,319

ii) Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated on the straight-line basis to
allocate cost to their residual value over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings Over the estimated useful life
Leasehold improvements 5% - 33'/3% p.a.
Plant and machinery 10% - 40% p.a.
Furniture, office equipment, vessel and 10% — 40% p.a.
motor vehicles

Buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at
the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The fair values of the buildings as at 31 December 2020 and 2019
have been arrived at on the basis of valuations performed on that date
by Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited (“Vigers”), independent
qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group. Vigers is
a member of the Institute of Valuers. The valuation was arrived at by
valuation techniques and assumptions as discussed below.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in the
prior year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use.

The Group’s finance department includes a team that review the
valuations performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting
purposes. This team reports directly to the board of directors.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the
valuation team and valuer annually.

If the buildings had not been revalued, they would have been included
in these consolidated financial statements at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation of HK$15,572,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$16,520,000).

i) MEF BERREZIMERTILRNAGHAIRE
HUBERER R A D #EHRESE

= st A5 AF HA
HEEE HFE5%—33"/:%
B 55 Tz 144 25 FE10%—40%
R BAERME

MpAR S = BFE10%—40%

BFZHEMERIR NELBHZAR
B BECHEBRRAFTERHER RS RER
e

BFR_Z_ZER_ZF-NAE+_AR
=+—HZRRETHREE KR E B &R E
ZBUBESBRMGEMBRNEET LR
BAERAR (TERH) RZBETZEES
RER BB EEMHEME  GETD
AT EED ERBRRERE -

HESEBRRNBEFEMRBELEEH -

PGS MEZRAREMS  WEZRBRER
EERBHEERZER -

FEEMBHRE —E/NE EERTHR
HENMEIEIL(GEMZ GEETEN &
NEBEEREEFEER- %Téd\%ﬂﬁiifﬁfégﬂi
SESmEERENERER

MIBFARESME HBRES KRR R
#T815,572,0008 T (ZE—HLFE+_H
=+—H :16,520,0005870) st AZ Sz &/
e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA S ¥R R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 17. ¥ -BRERSE (@)
An analysis of the Group’s buildings that are measured subsequent AEBRVTEBEBEAABSENIEFT
to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into fair value hierarchy BEBRAABSEHASBENIEREEDLE
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to fair value ENRERBE—REE=HBHIDFANOTF :

measurements are observable is as follows:

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2020 categorised into

RIE_EF+_-_A=+—HAAEHESES

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E— B4 B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET F#ET FHET
Recurring fair value REEAREHE
measurement
Buildings — PRC EF - - - 51,905
Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2019 categorised into
N B —NFE+ZA=+—BRAABEFENES
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E—R FR B=4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FE7T FETT TET
Recurring fair value BEYQXRENE
measurement
Buildings - PRC BF—rh - - 54,319
There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy during FRARDEZ R B EELE o
the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _Z2F+_F=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
inputs to the valuation of properties:

17.ME - BERSE (@)

PR ERM R EEEETEE A S BT
mE

Valuation Significant
Properties techniques unobservable inputs
EY/ES & B R fif EXFAERZBAER

Range

&E

Relationship of
key inputs

and significant
unobservable
inputs to fair value
FEBAEHRR
EXFAHEZ
HAER A
DREZMEF

Buildings — PRC Depreciated replacement

cost approach

TERBRAE

Construction costs per
square meter

— Based on the type of
building structure (steel
structure/reinforced
concrete structure) and
taking into account
market data on current
construction costs
for similar properties
located in nearby cities

[SRIAPIN T ES

— RS T AL (B
18,/ B R AL &)
A bt Refit 1B S 2
S B AR R A
2HBEN

Economic life of buildings

—Taking into account the
estimated useful life of
buildings depending on
the building structure
(steel structure/
reinforced concrete
structure)

BF 2 ERSm
— S RIRBIB TS (45

1%,/ 5 R B 4 18)
Z BT R EAEH

RMB1,649 per
square meter
(2019: RMB1,595
per square meter)
for steel structure
and RMB1,425
per square meter
(2019: RMB1,733
per square meter)
for reinforced
concrete structure

MEREAETHAK
AR #1,6497T (=
T-NE . SF
K ANEME,595
7o) > SRR T
EEAETALRA
R #81 42577 (Z &
—NE BFAHK
AR #1,7337T)

40 to 50 years

40ZE504

Annual Report 2020 FERS

The higher the
construction costs
per square meter,
the higher the fair
value

BERREENE
e AnEES

The longer the useful
life, the higher the
fair value

AEAFHER 2
nEES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements x5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

17.

18.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

In other comprehensive income, fair value gain of properties, plant and
equipment, net of tax comprise:

RA 75 R = MY 5E

17.ME - BERSE (B

REMEmEAR ME-BERRBZA
s EWE  FRIRIEEE

2020 2019
—ECEH —E—hHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET
Net increase in fair value NAEFEM 2,980 5,926
Deferred tax liabilities (note 26) RIERIEEE (M15E26) (745) (1,481)
At end of year FR 2,235 4,445
INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 18. R—MBELE2ZIRE
2020 2019
—EEH —E—hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Cost of investment in an associate R—EBEEEZREREANRER
Unlisted equity interest in Hong Kong ZR bR 31,993 31,993
Share of post-acquisition losses and other EEWEESIEREMEEmAS
comprehensive expense (31,993) (31,993)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, management of the
associate, did not have access to, and therefore they were not able
to provide to the Group, a set of complete and accurate accounting
records of Unity Resources Group Pte. Limited (‘URG”), one of its
subsidiaries. The inaccuracy on opening balances as at 1 January
2019 would have impact carried-forward to the financial results of the
associate for the year ended 31 December 2019.

In January 2019 and September 2019, the associate has disposed of
its equity interests in USSGRP Singapore Pte. Limited (‘USSGRP”) and
URG respectively. Consequently, USSGRP and URG were ceased to be
the associates of the Group upon the disposal.

The Group previously advanced three loans to the associate and a full
provision was made against these loans together with accumulated
interest, amounted to HK$5,445,000 for the year ended 31 December
2018. During the year ended 31 December 2019, a reversal of
impairment loss on loans to the associate of HK$3,462,000 was
recorded in the profit or loss as an amount of US$447,000 (equivalent
to HK$3,462,000) was settled by the associate.

In addition, the Group further granted a loan of US$161,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,246,000) in January 2019. The amount has been fully settled
by the associate in November 2019.

1 2 6 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

BE_Z-N\E+_A=+—HIEE B
EhENEIEE L & —EUnity Resources
Group Pte. Limited (TURG ) » EB AT =2
— ZERRERZ GRE S WEEAAR
EERHARESE - R _ZE—hhE—F—H
MBI ER AN ERB L EEE RS D
E_E-AEF+_BA=1t—HILEENHTE
ES

RIE—hhFE—BRZZE—NFNA ¥
EhENHILE T HEUSSGRP Singapore
Pte. Limited (TUSSGRP J) MIURGHI J&# o
It > T HE B USSGRPHIURGA B 2 A& E
HIBE & 2o

rEBERAZBECERHE=ZS8H I
MEZEERERRAMNBIEHEZBERS
E_E-N\E+_B=+—HIEEES
875,445,000 T BHEZZE—NLF+Z
B=+—BHBLEEE AMELXEEE
447 00075 (B E 123,462,000/ 7T) » B
Tz e 2R E R 18 13 [0]3,462,0005%8
Tt AfEH o

B R ZBE-—NE—AXERE—THEH
&3161,000 =7t (FBE 551,246,000 #E7T) °
BMECEER _Z—hE+—BBHREEZ

TRIE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BiZE —Z _ZF+_F=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 18. M—HETE2ZI8E (@)
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had interests in the RIEZEFR_BE—AFET+ZA=+—
following associate: H> AEERUTHECERTER !
Place of
incorporation Proportion of nominal Proportion of
/operation Class of value of issued capital voting power held Principal
Name of entity Form of entity [registration shares held held by the Group by the Group activities
ML/ SEAMBEET FEEE
i REKE g /B FERGERN BEEEZLH RREZIH TEER

2020 2019 2020 2019
ZEZ%E “TNF ZEZEE “TAE

Exellar Limited (‘Exellar”) Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary 41.45%  41.45%  41.45%  41.45%  Inactive
BRERARZHERAD (a%k) ML &5 5 JFER
Notes: PEE
a)  The Group is able to exercise significant influence over the associate because it has the a) AEEEAHZBECETESEATE] PHERIR
power to appoint 2 out of the 5 directors of the associate under the provisions stated in BZMECERRIFEMB G HEESEZH
the shareholders’ agreement of the associate. EhERAREETHMBES-
b)  On 16 January 2020, the directors of Exellar resolved to commence the process of b) N ZETFE—B+ABE aRZEFHRAEREHE
deregistration of Exellar. On 7 January 2021, the deregistration process was completed. ERVAMBR - R_Z-_—F—BtH sHzM
The deregistration process had insignificant financial effect to the Group. TR FHAMAREANERELE Y BHEEEMY
ES
The Group has stopped recognising its share of losses of the associate REBEP AR R AREE LR B
when applying the equity method. The unrecognised share of the EhXEZER FERRTAREIDEGEE
associate, both for the year and cumulatively, is set out below: EZESHINOT
2020 2019
—E-®E =&
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHT
Unrecognised share of result of associates FERBIREBMGHEREZEE
for the year - 5,071

Annual Report 2020 fEERE /I 2 7



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements % &

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

RA 75 R = MY 5E

18. I —HBEEEZIRE (8)

2020 2019
—E-EHF —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TF#ET FHET
Accumulated unrecognised share of Rt RERELHE X B
losses of associates (2,075) (2,075)

Set out below are the summarised financial information of the associate
which is accounted for using equity method.

Summarised balance sheet

BEDEZARZZBMECEZVBREEN

mE

BEARRBE

2020 2019
—E-EF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET TFET

Current e
Assets BE - -
Liabilities =L | (5,007) (5,007)
(5,007) (5,007)
Total identifiable net liabilities AR B EFEE (5,007) (5,007)
Non-controlling interests FEFESI MR R - -
(5,007) (5,007)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 18. M—RBtE ¥ 2188 (48)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income 2HBNARBE
2019
“E—NF
HK$’000
TET
Revenue &l 8,102
Depreciation e (34)
Expenses X (5,254)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RBRBARZ W 9,419
Profit for the year FEE A 12,233
Other comprehensive income Hhzmm A -
Total profit for the year HEE T 12,233
Attributable to: BB
— the shareholders of Exellar —aRZKRE 12,233
- non-controlling interest —IJEEHI M =
Total profit for the year R EF] 12,233
Reconciliation of summarised financial information HEEHEEZHIR
2019
“E—hEF
HK$’000
TFET
Opening net liabilities as at 1 January R—BE—BZHBYaEHE (17,240)
Non-controlling interest JEVE I R -
Opening net liabilities acquired as R—B—BZBWERYa&EFEE
at 1 January (17,240)
Profit for the year attributable to the Group HERAERZ FERA 12,233
Other comprehensive income Hit2mUW A =
Closing net liabilities HrBEEE (5,007)
Interest in an associate @ 41.45% N—EE R EER@ 41.45% (2,075)
Unrecognised share of loss of an associate RAEREGE—BHE X BB 2,075

Carrying value

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the associate was
inactive and under deregistration. Hence, summarised statement of
comprehensive income and reconciliation of summarised financial

information is not presented.

SREME

Ao

BE_ T TF+_HB=+—BHLEEER>
ZHMECERNERBEERAEN PR I
EE2HE2EBRARBELAMBENREZ Y
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA S ¥R R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 19. R—HEaEEEZRE
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the carrying values of investment RIEZTEFRZBE—NAFET+ZA=+—
in a joint venture were nil. H-R—EeEtEEERBEAS
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had interests in the RIE_EFR_ZB—hAhFE+_H=+—
following joint venture: B> AEER TGS bEREAER !
Place of
incorporation Proportion of nominal Proportion of
/operation Class of value of issued capital ~ voting power held Principal
Name of entity Form of entity [registration shares held held by the Group by the Group activities
e/ TEEFMFEET FEEF
R TERE g /B FrisIRER BAEEZ LA BEEZILH TEER
2020 2019 2020 2019

ZECRF “T-5 ZBIBE “T-5E

Phoenix Cloud (Beijing) Technologies Incorporated PRC, limited liability ~ Ordinary 24.86% 24.86% 24.86% 24.86%  Sale and
Company Limited by share company development

of smart card
application
products in
Mainland China

BEZ (bR) BERHERAS sER AL HE RABRAE EE RAE RS
HERREE
EFEEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. R—HEEEEZRE (B
The Group has stopped recognising its share of losses of the joint REARKARDEZFEFELIRIEEGS
venture when applying the equity method. The unrecognised share of EhXEB - FERRSKREDNEEEE
the joint venture, both for the year and cumulatively, is set out below: EZEBHINT
2020 2019
ZEZES “E—hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET TFET
Unrecognised share of losses of joint venture FERBIBLEERES
for the year E518 (257) (385)
2020 2019
et 223 —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET TET
Accumulated unrecognised share of losses R AMABEHEEEEEIE
of joint venture (2,210) (1,953)
20. INVENTORIES 20. 78
2020 2019
—EC-EH “E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET TET
Raw materials R A7 6,220 3,929
Work in progress F AL 25,896 30,674
Finished goods SLAY iR 7,189 10,753
39,305 45,356
As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of inventories was RIEEF+"HB=+—H F#ENK
approximately HK$39,305,000 (2019: HK$45,356,000). During the year HE# 439,305,000 (Z2—N5F
ended 31 December 2020, provision for inventories of HK$597,000 45,356,000/ 7T) cBE_ZE_ETF+_H
(2019: nil) has been recognised and included in cost of sales. =+—HIEFER BRER597,0008 7T (=

B-NEF B 2EERERFABERAE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4x & Bt 73 3R R MY 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 1. BAREHAESRZENEE

PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019
—E-®E =&
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHB7T
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (note i) REB LR ZRAFES () 1,808 2,177
Financial derivative — Foreign currency forward TRITETHR —EERGH

contracts (note ii) (Bf =i ) 646 =
2,454 2,177

Note i: B &R
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did not dispose of any listed equity HES - EF+_A=t+—HIEFE ZEMIERHE
securities. The fair values of all equity securities are based on their current bid prices in an ERLETRAZS FMBERAEFS 2 AAREBHUERER

active market and the Group are exposed to price risk.

RIERTIHZRERELE AEEAME S EERR -

Note ii: B i
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following foreign currency forward RBEHR ZEMEUTIINEZHEN ZEAHNZTE
contracts. The major terms of these contracts are as follows: R

31 December 2020

—E¥-F¥HF+-RA=+—H

Carrying amount Notional amount Maturity Exchange rates
IRME{E LEEH FHR Ex
HK$'000
FET
173 Sell US$, buy RMB6,650,000 22 January 2021 US$1: RMB6.7
EHETT BB AR56,650,000 —E-—&#—F-+—H 1ETRARK6.7T
108 Sell US$, buy RMB13,100,000 29 January 2021 US$1: RMB6.6
Ehxrt BE AR13,100,000 —B_—&H—HF_-+AhH 1ZTRARE6.67C
136 Sell US$, buy EUR 900,000 10 September 2021 US$1: EUR 0.8
& H %7t BB Bt900,000 —E_—HFhB+H 17T R0.8807T
229 Sell US$, buy EUR 1,200,000 16 October 2021 US$1: EUR 0.8
& %7t B EET1,200,000 —ZE-—H#+A+H 1275 520.8BU 7T
As at 31 December 2020, fair value gains of HK$646,000 (2019: nil) RZE_EFE+_BA=+—H'A2nENKE
have been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 646,00087C (ZE—NE ) BRGEER
and other comprehensive income. KREMEEARPRESR
Details of the fair value of these investments are disclosed in note 5(c). ZERBE 2 N AEFBRM S ()P IRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. B 5 R H th U FRIE
2020 2019
—E_EH —E—hE
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHEx FET
Trade receivables B 5 e TIE 35,920 47,810
Deposits and other receivables B K H g IE 5,450 6,372
Prepayments FEIFRIE 1,169 841
42,539 55,023

B 5 R AMERRIEL RS BT

Trade and other receivables analysed for reporting purpose as:

2020 2019

ZEZESF —E—hEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TFHx FET

Non-current assets ERBEE 724 724
Current assets MENEE 41,815 54,299
42,539 55,023

FEBTERZENBRAEMERS

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables B 5 U TRIE Z BR &S 72 1R

At as 31 December 2020, the gross amount of trade receivable arising RIE_EE+_BA=+—HB BF&H
from contracts with customers amounted to HK$35,920,000 (2019: E4 2 B 5 EWNFRIE4E%E%4385,920,000% 7T
HK$47,810,000). The Group allows credit periods ranging from 30 (ZEB—H4E 47,810,000 7T) c KER A
to 90 days (2019: 30 to 60 days) to its customers. The following is HEEFEFNFI0EWWH (ZZE—H%E : 30
an aged analysis of trade receivables presented based on the invoice £60H) 2EEH TXRANBESHER 1%
date, at the end of the reporting period. In addition, for certain S*TEHHIZ 5| 2 B 5 FER R IEEREE D 47 o It
customers with long-established relationship and have good credit I EEEESIFMBERBEFEEZET
worthiness, a longer credit period may be granted. ZEEms i RAEETREZEER-

2020 2019

—ECEH —E—hEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THx AT

Within 30 days 30HA 19,716 13,756
31 to 60 days 31&260H 7,780 27,375
61 to 90 days 61E90H 5,729 6,397
Over than 90 days BE90H 2,695 282
35,920 47,810
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA S ¥R R MI=E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. B R EMEWRIE (4B)

Ageing analysis of trade receivables (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables are based on management’s
estimate of the expected credit losses to be incurred, which involved
the estimate of probability of default, loss given default and forward
looking adjustments.

Management estimated these parameters by taking into account the
credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables, customers’
repayment history and customers’ financial position and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general economic conditions.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the current reporting period.

No loss allowance has been made for the year ended 31 December
2020 and 2019 as the impact of the expected loss is assessed to be
insignificant. At 31 December 2020 and 2019, no trade debtor of the
Group was individually determined to be impaired.

Included in trade and other receivables are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities to which they relate:

B 5% B R IE 2 IR G 2 i (48)

BEZRWHREZ BEEEDEREERH R
SIRZBEEBEGL B REBOHE
fhst s BB R R LA SRR -

EEBEH K EERRERE BB Z R
PR - FRERELRE R BRI
R & Al Ko A HA 4R RS A IR e PO AT A (i 51 3%

RAREHAA  EERMEPTFHERBRR
AR () -

BHE_E_ ZEEKR_T-NF+_B=1+—
HIEEE TEFHEEEE BRAER
FLTEEE N EMARE- NS T
FRIFE-NE+ZB=+—8 > #BEER
ETEEREZ B 5 EIERR

B 5 hHAEME WA &%LXT%%‘EFJ DL
EEEEZIEERLUN 2GS

2020 2019

= e

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHT T

uss$ 7T 35,702 47,900

The directors of the Company considered that the deposit and other
receivables to be categorised as “Performing” under the Group’s
credit risk grading framework and the 12-months ECL is insignificant
taking into account the past repayment patterns of deposit and other
receivables. Thus, no impairment provision is recognised during the
year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= 5

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

23.

24,

R 75 R = MY 5E

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 23. MERIFITLEER
2020 2019
—E_EHE —E—hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx FET
Cash at bank and in hand BT RFHEEES 83,468 47,600
Pledged bank deposits BIRRIRITER 3,630 =
Cash and bank balances RE KR IRITHER 87,098 47,600

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

Cash and bank balances included deposits pledged to a bank.
Deposits amounting to HK$3,630,000 (31 December 2019: nil) have
been pledged to secure short-term foreign currency forward contracts
and are therefore classified as current assets.

The pledged deposits carry fixed interest rates from 1.35% to 2.1% per
annum.

At 31 December 2020, cash and cash equivalents represented the
cash at bank and in hand amounting to HK$83,468,000 (2019:
HK$47,600,000).

Included in the cash and bank balances are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they relate:

ﬁgﬁﬁ%*ﬁﬁf«’é H R 17 7 7R = B EF 2 A

He MIRTEGEEEEBGRTZER
77 %43,630,0008 T (ZE—NE+_H
=+—H 8 BIEFEAEHIMNEEHEEH
ZIERILAILEBEARBEE

ZEERHERZEEENRBA1.35%F
2.1%-°

AZETZFE+ A=+ —H ReEkRS
F{HEIEH1583,468,00078 0 2 $R17 K FEEIR
& (ZEF—HF : 47,600,000 7T) ©

R RIRITHEREEU TR UM ER
BERZIMEEKMIN GG S !

2020 2019

ZECESF —E—hEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FET

us$ E7T 48,021 35,271

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

24. BB RHEMEIRIE

2020 2019
—E_%E —E—hE
HK$’0(£) HK$:OO£)
F#T TFHETT
Trade payables B 5 ETIA 41,449 31,875
Accruals and other payables (note i) FEstER R EMENRIE (M) 12,904 17,290
Bonus payables (note ii) eI EE S (B SEii 13,528 10,258
Employees’ loan advances (note i) EBEEFBH s 2,052 743
69,933 60,166

Note i Pt &Fi -
As at 31 December 2020, accruals and other payables consisted of HK$8,038,000 of salary WS -—ESE+-_F=+— e A &,H\Tmﬁﬁ =
and wages payables (2019: HK$6,555,000). EAEENMERFESS,0 00;&7E (—B—hE:

6,555,000 7%) ©
Note ii: M i
In January 2020, HK$10,258,000 of bonus payables were re-designated as employees’ loan AT E—F 10,258,000 8T NS EHIEE

advances to the Group. These employees’ loan advances carry interest with reference to the
Group’s other financing activities with repayment date in January 2021. HK$8,206,000 of the
balances were early settled in October 2020.

In January 2021, HK$13,528,000 of bonus payables are re-designated as employees’ loan
advances to the Group. These employees’ loan advances carry interest at 5.05% per annum
and are repayable by January 2022.

BESANIERRUENENR  ZFREREEMN %EEZSSEI
ZHMBEGH AR WAR - - —F—AHE 5FE
8,206,000 T ER — B —BF +BIRAIEE

WZZZ—4%—H 13,528, ooof’émzﬁéﬁﬁﬁi%}éﬁ

HREMAEEBHNER 2L REEFUEFZEE.05%
HE WER B G AEEe
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 24. E 5 R H thFE (I TRIE (48)
The following is an aged analysis of trade payable presented based on TXARBREHR REZBHREIN 2B S
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. &1 RRIB BR e 0 A7 ©

2020 2019
—EIEH —ES—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Within 30 days 30HA 15,566 16,239
31 - 60 days 31E60H 19,393 12,462
61 — 90 days 61FE90H 4,356 2,244
Over 90 days #BiB0H 2,134 930
41,449 31,875

The trade payables were due according to the terms stated in the %%%ﬁ%’ﬂlﬁfﬁﬁ%@%ﬁ AP 2 1R E

25.

relevant contracts. The average credit periods are 30 days. The Group
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

Included in the trade and other payables are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entities:

c PHEEHA0R - AEFERIE R

ﬂ@a@ﬁ%
E%EF'%E—'—W D/E °©

HRATAERANRIBEAREES

85 KR M RIBEE N T 25875 UABRE
EEERZIEERLUINZERHE !

2020 2019

—E-EF —ES—NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHBT

Uss$ E=7T 10,438 15,145

BANK BORROWINGS 25. $RITEM

2020 2019

—E-FHF —E—hE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHBT

Secured BigE 20,013 =
The bank borrowings carry fixed interest rates of 0.2% per annum. RITERIREF02%MEEFXTE -

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of KNBEERARTERZRABREAR

bank borrowings approximate to their fair values.

All of the bank borrowings are repayable within one year and contain
a repayment on demand clause as stipulated in the respective loan
agreements.
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25.

26.

BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the bank borrowings are secured by the
Group’s buildings and land use rights with carrying amounts of
HK$51,905,000 and HK$9,121,000 respectively.

R 75 R = MY 5E

25. sRITEHR (8)

RZZE_ZTFE+_B=+—H RITEX
HAEBEKRBEED A A51,905,000%8 7T &
9,121,000 7T 2 & F Ko = #iF F RE (E4E 3 o

Included in the bank borrowings balance is the following amount IRITEMGRBREU TSR UEMERE
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of BZIEEEKMIN 2 EIEE
relevant group entity:
2020 2019
—EZEF —EhEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHET TFET
EUR R T 20,013 -
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 26. BEREER

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements
thereon during the current and prior years:

TR/ EFERBEFECRED ZIEILER
RaRkHEES) :

Revaluation
of properties

MEER

HK$’000

F#ET

At 1 January 2019 RIZZ2—h&FE—HB—H 11,820
Charged to other comprehensive income (note 17) 1B EM2EUR A (FFE17) 1,481
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 RIZ2—NFE+BA=+—HBERZZ2ZZH—H—H 13,301
Charged to other comprehensive income (note 17) 1B HE#tZE2EK A (HzE17) 745
At 31 December 2020 RWZZ2_EBHF+_B=+—H 14,046

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$138,662,000 (2019: HK$159,103,000) available to offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

KRBREBR AERRERARNRFTEIR
138,662,0007 7t (Z & —J1.4F : 159,103,000
BTT) o B AR SR A o B SR AR AR
TETRR > B AR 1A S 1R FE SR AR IE AR
HEE-
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26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

The tax losses can be carried forward to offset against the taxable
profits of subsequent years. Cumulative tax losses of HK$109,710,000
(2019: HK$96,542,000) can be carried forward indefinitely while tax
losses of HK$28,952,000 (2019: HK$62,561,000) will expire as follows:

RA 75 R = MY 5E

26. JBEMIEE R (48)

MEGEEIEESNUIKEEEREEZEER
A o REH R IEETE109,710,0008 T (&
— L6 96,542,000 7T) Al ER A4 &
MR IEE5 828,952,000 T (ZE—H4F .
62,561,000/ 7T) 2 ZIHAIE R T -

2020 2019
—ECEHE —NnEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET TET
Expiring in: ZIEEM, -
2020 :%ﬁigﬁ - 22,402
2021 —E—HF 8,420 20,560
2022 2 S — - -
2023 :g: =1 7,220 6,892
2024 —EHE 13,312 12,707
2025 B - =
Total 4E st 28,952 62,561
27.LEASES 27. 708
() Right-of-use assets (i) EREEE
2020 2019
—EIEH “E—hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET
At 1 January w—HB—H 14,129 9,145
Addition NE - 6,671
Depreciation TE (2,463) (1,687)
Exchange realignment PE 52 S 457 -
At 31 December R+-B=+—H 12,123 14,129

As at 31 December 2020, approximately HK$9,121,000 of right-

RIEBEZTE+"HA=+—H &£H#%E

of-use assets represents prepayment for land use rights located in
the PRC (2019: HK$8,903,000) and is amortised over 50 years on
a straight line basis.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has leased arrangement for
leased property of office premise of approximately HK$3,002,000
(2019: HK$5,226,000). The lease term is three years. Addition
to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 December 2019
amounted to HK$6,671,000, due to new lease of office premise.
There was no addition to the right-of-use assets for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

1 88 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

EE4£99,121,0007 7o B £+ #fF
Bz FEMAHIE (ZTZT— N4 8,903,000
BT LWBEEERE+ERE#E-

A _E_ETE+_A=+—H 4&EH
HMANEZHEYWEE 4 %43,002,000
BT (CE—HE :5,226,00087T) 2
THEZH -HEHHREA=F AN KA
EWMAEYE - BE_E—NE+ =
B=+— EﬁiﬁZ@ﬁﬁﬁéi@%im
6,671,000/ T HE —EFE+"R
== Etﬁ&zfiﬁﬁ*&‘ﬁ%ﬁm&ﬂ
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27. LEASES (Continued) 27. 148 (@&
(i) Lease liabilities (i) FHE&MHE
2020 2019
—ECEH —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHBT
Non-current JERH 790 3,207
Current mEn 2,222 1,961
3,012 5,168
Amount payable under lease liabilities HEBEETZEMZE
2020 2019
. et 223 —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Within one year —&FR 2,222 1,961
After one year but within two years —FREMEN 790 2,339
After two years but within five years MEBERENRN - 868
3,012 5,168
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 BT EA REIRREERE 2 I8
months (shown under current liabilities) FIRRBEEET) (2,222) (1,961)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months +ZER B IHRER 2 RIE 790 3,207
During the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no addition BE_ZT_TFE+-BA=+—HIHF
to the lease liabilities. EHEaELRIEM
(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (iii) MRIBEPFER ZRIE
2020 2019
—E-EF “E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FBT
Expense relating to short-term leases ERARAEE HX 265 915
Depreciation on: MUTFREZINE
— Land use rights — T {E A 239 242
— Office premises —IAEYE 2,224 1,445
Interests expense on lease liabilities HEaGEZFERS 168 158
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

27. LEASES (Continued) 27. 188 (&)

(iv) Others (iv) Efth

R-ZE_ZTF+_R=+—H &&H
WARETHARMIRZ BE G-

At 31 December 2020, the Group did not have committed lease
agreement that was not yet commenced.

BE_TE_ZTZF£+_-_B=+—HLE
B HENRS R 4258 42,589,000/
7T (ZE—H%E 2,576,000 7T) ©

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the total cash outflows
for leases amounted to HK$2,589,000 (2019: HK$2,576,000).

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. jg s
Number of shares Amount
K& B2
2020 2019 2020 2019
bt 3 3 “Z—NF —ECEE “Z—NEF
’000 '000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Fig T FER FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 SREE1ET
(2019: HK$0.1) each (ZE—NEFE:01E7T)
ZEBR
Authorised: ERE
At beginning and end of the year EFRER 2,000,000 2,000,000 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
At beginning and end of the year  FE K ER 818,042 818,042 81,804 81,804
29. RESERVES 29. #15H

FEERAFERBEFEZ HERIES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents primarily the effects from change in
shareholders’ equity arising on group re-organisation and change in the
Group’s ownership interest in subsidiaries without losing control.

Properties revaluation reserve

The properties revaluation reserve represents cumulative gains and
losses arising on the revaluation of the buildings that have been
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such items will not be
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

1 40 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 30. MEESFFELX BB ZHER
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing TRFpAAEBREME T 2 ARES>
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising BREAERIERcEH MEETHMELZ
from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or BEAREREIRRBETREFNEAER
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash GEREMNERPTOEARBEMEEHRS
flow statement as cash flow from financing activities. MEZBMB-
Bank Lease
loans liabilities Total
RITER HEEE ]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FTERT FTERT
At 1 January 2019 R-E—h&E—F—H 5,682 - 5,682
Non-cash changes from MEREREZ
financing cash flows: JEIREEE .
Recognition of right-of-use assets BRERAEEE - 6,671 6,671
Financing cash flows RERERS (5,682) (1,503) (7,185)
At 31 December 2019 and RIE—NEF
1 January 2020 +ZB=+—8k
“ETTF—HF—H = 5,168 5,168
Non-cash changes from MEREREZ
financing cash flows: FIREEH .
Exchange realignment ERAE 1,304 - 1,304
Financing cash flows RERER=E 18,709 (2,156) 16,553
At 31 December 2020 A_EEF+"H=1+—H 20,013 3,012 23,025
31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31.FAERXH
Key management personnel compensation TEEEASHMSE
The key management personnel compensation represented FTEEEBEAEMNE BIERRNTES ZH)
remuneration of executive directors during the years was as follows: (Il
2020 2019
—ECEH —E—hHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET
Short-term benefits ySEEEER 2,730 2,730
Post-employment benefits BEELGEF 36 36
2,766 2,766
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 32. xR E BB RET

COMPANY
2020 2019
—E-EHE —E-hNHF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Ff 5 FExT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Plant and equipment R = B 5 = 18
Investment in a subsidiary R—ERERAEZEE (a) - -
Amount due from a subsidiary — BB AT R (a) 137,276 148,930
137,276 148,948
CURRENT ASSETS MEBEE
Other receivables HhpE W zrIg 1,393 1,385
Cash and bank balances P& RIR1T4E R 1,107 1,751
2,500 3,136
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENEE
Accruals and other payables FEST & R E A FE S =B 524 779
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 1,976 2,357
NET ASSETS BEEFE 139,252 151,305
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BxR#E
Share capital [N 81,804 81,804
Reserves Ei] (b) 57,448 69,501
TOTAL EQUITY ERERE 139,252 151,305
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE T _ZTF+_F=+—HILFE

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

mE M BRERME

32. xAFMBIR AR (B)

BEE
(@)  As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the investment in a subsidiary is fully impaired. () MRIBZEERZZ—AE+ZHA=+—H'IF—F/K
WEAB 2R EBERE -
The amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. —REfBRABRRARIETE - R RBAREREER
The directors of the Company do not expect repayments from the subsidiary within the AABEFFEHERSHRESRERTZEARNZ
next twelve months from the end of the reporting period. WEBABREER -
(b)  Reserves movement of the Company (b) AABEEES
Share Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
R 1% i (| BARE RitisH st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FET FET FET
At 1 January 2019 RIZ—h&—B—H 217,761 147,694 (286,505) 78,950
Loss and total comprehensive BEREE2AEMSEE
expense for the year - - (9,449) (9,449)
At 31 December 2019 and R-F-AE+-A=+—Bk
1 January 2020 —ETFE—HA—H 217,761 147,694 (295,954) 69,501
Loss and total comprehensive BEREESEMLEE
expense for the year - - (12,053) (12,053)
At 31 December 2020 RIZZEF+_HB=+—H 217,761 147,694 (308,007) 57,448

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the
consolidated shareholders’ funds of a subsidiary acquired and the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued in exchange thereof.

KRB ZHMABBTHIEFMBAZNB AR ZEER
RETHRARBBERGMBETROZEMEZEE-
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33. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2020 and 2019
are as follows:

RA 75 R = MY 5E

33. it B A E]

RoB-BER_F-—AFT-A=+—
B EEMBATFENT :

Issued and Percentage of
Place of Principal fully paid effective interest
incorporation/ place of share capital/ attributable Principal
Name Legal form registration operation registered capital to the Group activities
AR, BRTRYRE HEEEN
g EREY BiOhE TELEHEY e 3T T BREEE A TEEH
2020 2019
—BI%E “2-AE
Topwell Group Development Ltd Limited liability British Virgin Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
company Islands US$1,000
BRAF HBRUES b EBK1,000% 7T RELER
Carry Wealth Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
company HK$4,000,000
ERERAT BRAF BE b LBk RELER
4,000,000 7T
Hillwealth International Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Garment trading
company HK$1 and marketing
in Hong Kong
BRERERAF BRAF BE b EBRIET REBETARE
ARTGEE
Dragon Insight Investments Limited liability Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Securities trading
Limited company HK$1 in Hong Kong
FHREBRAT BERAF &H &E ERRIET REBETESR
7
Mass Wealth Investments Limited liability Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited company HK$1
HRRERRAR BRAF BE b EBRIET RELER
BUEERERERAT Limited liability PRC PRC Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Manufacture of
(Heshan Carry Wealth Garment company US$14,700,000 knit products
Limited) in Mainland China
BUEERRERAT BERAF HEARHNE HZEARHNE L&k RARE AR E St
14,700,000% 7T Bk
B8 (RY) REHAERAT Limited liability PRC PRC Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Provision of
(Heng Feng (Shenzhen) company RMB5,000,000 consultation
Investment Consulting service in
Company Limited) Mainland China
158 (R REAABRAF BRAF HE AR HMNE HE AR HNE EBRARE RARE AR
5,000,0007% Rk %

The Company directly holds the interest in Topwell Group Development
Ltd. All other interests shown above are indirectly held by the
Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at 31
December 2020 and 2019 or at any time during the year.

1 44 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

&N B E#E B Topwell Group Development
Ltd. 2 #x o EXFimFTA EMiEmE R4
NEIEEREE-

RIE_EER_TE—NFE+-_B=+—H
RAFEEMEFE MERBABRFEEM
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